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PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WIND RIVER SYSTEMS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

(Unaudited)
Three months ended Six months ended
July 31, July 31,
2002 2001 2002 2001
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Revenues, net:
Products

Services

Total revenues

Cost of revenues:
Products

Services

Total cost of revenues

Gross profit

Operating expenses:
Selling and marketing

Product development and engineering

General and administrative

Amortization of goodwill and purchased intangibles
Impairment of goodwill and purchased intangibles
Restructuring and other nonrecurring costs

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Other income (expense):
Interest income

Interest expense
Other expense, net

Total other income (expense)

Loss before provision for (benefit from) income taxes
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

Net loss

Net loss per share:
Basic

Diluted

Shares used in per share calculation:
Basic

Three months ended

Six months ended

July 31, July 31,
$ 42301 $ 54,550 $ 86,026 $ 128,220
21,281 25,680 43,915 62,202
63,582 80,230 129,941 190,422
4,709 6,809 10,182 13,766
12,992 15,138 26,980 33,318
17,701 21,947 37,162 47,084
45,881 58,283 92,779 143,338
32,747 38,773 66,562 83,195
17,792 21,720 38,414 47,027
8,397 9,796 17,681 19,840
2,395 24,321 4,518 55,807
225,418 225,418
17,665 28,615 17,665 28,615
78,996 348,643 144,840 459,902
(33,115) (290,360) (52,061) (316,564)
3,147 4,336 6,539 9,288
(1,773) (2,053) (3,560) (4,206)
(4,928) (682) (5,135) 916)
(3,554) 1,601 (2,156) 4,166
(36,6069) (288,759) (54,217) (312,398)
275 (7,200) 775 (5,998)
$ (36,944) $ (281,559) $ (54,992) $ (306,400)

$ 047) $
$ 047) $

79,035

3.64) $
(3.64) $

77,354

0.70) $
(0.70) $

78,901

(3.98)
(3.98)

77,070
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Three months ended Six months ended
July 31, July 31,
Diluted 79,035 77,354 78,901 77,070

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

WIND RIVER SYSTEMS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except par value)

(Unaudited)
July 31, January 31,
2002 2002
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 47,805 $ 131,067
Short-term investments 29,154 22,364
Accounts receivable, net 45,505 61,109
Prepaid and other current assets 13,038 18,404
Total current assets 135,502 232,944
Investments 173,078 123,136
Property and equipment, net 52,379 59,804
Intangibles, net 104,576 108,409
Other assets 15,454 19,644
Restricted cash 63,683 63,683
Total assets $ 544,672 $ 607,620
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 4331 $ 7,191
Line of credit 12,119 14,988
Accrued liabilities 22,563 19,346
Accrued restructuring costs 5,266 5,243
Accrued compensation 13,575 17,575
Income taxes payable 4,879 7,485
Deferred revenue 31,067 34,656
Total current liabilities 93,800 106,484
Convertible subordinated debt 150,000 150,000

Other long-term liabilities 4,066 2,995
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July 31, January 31,
2002 2002
Total liabilities 247,866 259,479
Stockholders' equity:

Common stock, par value $0.001; 325,000 shares authorized; 81,130 and 79,863 shares issued
at July 31, 2002 and January 31, 2002, respectively; 79,090 and 78,586 shares outstanding at
July 31, 2002 and January 31, 2002, respectively. 81 80
Additional paid-in-capital 745,318 737,595
Loan to stockholder (1,949) (1,893)
Treasury stock, 2,040 shares at cost (33,426) (29,488)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (4,838) (4,765)
Accumulated deficit (408,380) (353,388)

Total stockholders' equity 296,806 348,141

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 544,672 $ 607,620

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

WIND RIVER SYSTEMS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

Six Months Ended July 31,

2002 2001

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (54,992) $ (306,400)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operations:

Depreciation and amortization 15,306 64,938
Non-cash charge for other-than-temporary decline in investment 4,259 3,275
Non-cash restructuring charge 1,545 1,411
Non-cash compensation, including 401 (k) match 1,453 1,563
Interest on loan to stockholder (56) 52)
Impairment of goodwill and purchased intangibles 225,418
Loss on asset dispositions 153
Realized gain on repurchase of convertible subordinated notes (293)
Deferred income taxes 69 (2,509)
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquired businesses:

Accounts receivable, net 15,604 39,138

Prepaid and other current assets 4,760 5,718
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Six Months Ended July 31,
Accounts payable (2,860) 9,177)
Accrued restructuring costs (126) 20,644
Accrued liabilities 3,217 (4,842)
Accrued compensation (4,000) (3,931)
Income taxes payable (2,633) (1,982)
Deferred revenue (3,589) (14,110)
Other assets and liabilities (61) (2,049)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (21,951) 16,760
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment 4,161) (12,052)
Capitalized software development costs (969) (801)
Purchase of investments (163,436) (194,637)
Sales of investments 83,600 115,003
Maturities of investments 22,670 61,500
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (37,771)
Restricted cash (1,055)
Net cash used in investing activities (62,296) (69,813)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Issuance of common stock 6,298 10,898
Repurchase of convertible subordinated notes (11,151)
Acquisition of treasury stock (3,938)
Borrowings (repayment) of line of credit (2,869) 1,170
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (509) 917
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1,494 (1,787)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (83,262) (53,923)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 131,067 92,431
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 47805 $ 38,508

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

WIND RIVER SYSTEMS, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1: Basis of Presentation

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes of Wind River Systems, Inc. ("Wind River") are
unaudited. However, in the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) that are necessary for a
fair presentation of the financial position as of July 31, 2002 and January 31, 2002, the results of operations for the three and six months ended
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July 31, 2002 and 2001, and cash flows for the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001 have been included. These condensed consolidated
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in Wind River's
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2002 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 30, 2002
("2002 Form 10-K"). The results of operations for the three and six months ended July 31, 2002 are not necessarily indicative of results to be
expected for the entire fiscal year, which ends on January 31, 2003, or for any future period.

In accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, unaudited condensed consolidated financial
statements may omit or condense certain information and disclosures normally required for a complete set of financial statements prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"). Accordingly, certain information and disclosures normally included in
financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. The condensed
consolidated balance sheet at January 31, 2002 was derived from audited financial statements, but does not include all disclosures required by
GAAP. Management of Wind River believes that the notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements contain disclosures adequate to
make the information presented not misleading.

The condensed consolidated financial statements include the financial information of Wind River and its subsidiaries. All significant
inter-company accounts and transactions have been eliminated. Wind River has a reporting year ending January 31 while, through December 31,
2001, its international subsidiaries (outside of North America) had reporting years ending December 31; thus, the condensed consolidated
financial statements for the three and six months ended July 31, 2001 include such subsidiaries' results for the three and six months ended
June 30, 2001. Effective January 31, 2002, each of Wind River's international subsidiaries (outside of North America) changed its reporting year
to end on January 31 rather than December 31; thus, the condensed consolidated financial statements for the three and six months ended July 31,
2002 include such subsidiaries' results for the three and six months ended July 31, 2002.

Certain amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period's presentation.
Note 2: Acquisitions

Wind River has completed a number of acquisitions accounted for as purchase transactions. The condensed consolidated financial
statements include the operating results of each business from the date of acquisition. The purchase price for each acquisition is allocated to the
tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the basis of the estimated fair values on the effective date of the
acquisition.

On April 18,2001, Wind River purchased certain identified software products, including an operating system for digital signal processors
from Eonic Systems, Inc. ("Eonic"). The total purchase price of $15.6 million consisted of $15.0 million in cash and approximately $642,000 in
acquisition related costs.

On May 4, 2001, we purchased from Berkeley Software Design, Inc. ("BSDI") certain identified software assets, including the BSDI
operating system, a UNIX-based code suitable for various Internet applications, for a total purchase price of $23.4 million, consisting of
approximately $22.9 million in cash and $507,000 in acquisition-related costs. Prior to the closing of the transaction, we loaned $7.5 million to
BSDI to repay BSDI creditors.

Pro forma results of the Eonic and BSDI purchases have not been presented because the effects were not material to the condensed
consolidated financial statements of Wind River.

Refer to Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Wind River's 2002 Form 10-K for further details of acquisitions
completed during the fiscal years ended January 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.

The table below sets forth the amortization expense, foreign translation and other adjustments for the six months ended July 31, 2002 and
the net book value of goodwill and purchased intangibles as of July 31, 2002 for certain acquisitions completed during fiscal years ended
January 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000:

Acquisitions

Tele- BSDI Eonic Rapid ICESoft AudeSi Embedded Software Other Total
networks Logic Support Development
Tools Systems
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Acquisitions

Total at acquisition

(In thousands)

Goodwill $ 2354 § 20,073 $ 11,664 $ 49,028 § 23961 $ 50,180 $ 317,393 $ 23,018 $ 8964 $ 506,635
Purchased intangibles 2,875 3,410 3,870 7,000 750 1,100 15,800 12,100 655 47,560
5,229 23,483 15,534 56,028 24,711 51,280 333,193 35,118 9,619 554,195
Disposition as of
January 31, 2002
Goodwill 215 3,062 3,277
Purchased
Technology 468 468
215 3,530 3,745
Impairment as of
January 31, 2002
Goodwill 24,024 15,255 35,397 167,481 13,811 255,968
Purchased intangibles 440 971 1,417
24,024 15,255 35,837 167,481 14,788 257,385
Accumulated
amortization as of
January 31, 2002
Goodwill 3,764 2,187 14,841 5,644 14,632 107,474 7,385 6,151 162,078
Purchased intangibles 220 639 726 2,220 282 466 7,242 10,128 655 22,578
220 4,403 2,913 17,061 5,926 15,098 114,716 17,513 6,806 184,656
Amortization expense,
foreign translation and
other adjustments for the
six months ended
July 31, 2002
Goodwill
Purchased intangibles 360 426 484 876 44 1,975 355 (687) 3,833
360 426 484 876 44 1,975 355 (687) 3,833
Net book value at
July 31, 2002
Goodwill 2,354 16,094 9,477 10,163 151 42,438 1,822 2,813 85,312
Purchased intangibles 2,295 2,345 2,660 3,904 150 6,583 640 687 19,264
$ 4,649 18,439 $ 12,137 $ 14,067 $ $ 301 $ 49,021 $ 2,462 $ 3,500 $ 104,576
I B I B B B I B N
Fiscal year acquired 2002 2002 2002 2001 2001 2001 2001 2000

Impairment of Goodwill and Purchased Intangibles

During the quarter ended July 31, 2001, Wind River identified indicators of possible impairment of goodwill and other acquired intangible
assets relating to previous acquisitions. These indicators included the deterioration in the business climate, changes in sales and cash flow
forecasts, strategic plans for certain of the acquired businesses and significant declines in the market values of companies in the embedded
software industry. Accordingly, Wind River compared the undiscounted cash flows associated with the acquired businesses and long-lived assets
with the respective carrying amounts and determined that an impairment of certain of these assets existed. As a result, during the three and six
months ended July 31, 2001, Wind River recorded an aggregate charge of $225.4 million, of which, $223.6 million related to the impairment of

8
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goodwill, including both impaired goodwill and workforce balances, and $1.8 million related to the impairment of purchased intangible assets.
The impaired amount was measured as the amount by which the carrying amount exceeded the respective present value of the estimated future
cash flows for goodwill and purchased intangible assets presented in the table above. During the quarter ended January 31, 2002, Wind River
recorded a further impairment of goodwill and purchased intangibles of $32.0 million.

The impairment charge for those assets held for use was determined based upon the estimated discounted cash flows over the remaining
useful life of the goodwill using discount rates ranging from 17% to 23%. The assumptions supporting the cash flows, including the discount
rates, were determined using Wind River's best estimates as of the date of the impairment review. The impairment charge for those assets held
for disposal was determined based on the expected proceeds of disposition. As of July 31, 2002 and January 31, 2002, Wind River had net book
values in goodwill and purchased intangible assets of approximately $104.6 million and $108.4 million, respectively. Accumulated amortization
for goodwill and purchased intangibles as of July 31, 2002 and January 31, 2002 was $188.5 million and $184.7 million, respectively.
Amortization expense relating to completed technology for the three months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001 was $1.7 million and $2.2 million,
respectively, and was $3.4 million and $4.4 million for the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Other than goodwill, all
identifiable intangible assets of approximately $19.3 million in net book value as of July 31, 2002 will continue to be amortized in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" ("SFAS 142").

Wind River adopted SFAS 142 on February 1, 2002, and accordingly, ceased amortizing goodwill with net book value totaling
$85.3 million, including $8.5 million of acquired workforce previously

classified as purchased intangibles. The following table presents the impact of SFAS 142 on net loss and net loss per share had SFAS 142 been
applicable for the three and six months ended July 31, 2001:

Three Months Ended July 31, Six Months Ended July 31,

2002 2001 2002 2001

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Reported loss $ (36,944) $ (281,559) $ (54,992) $ (306,400)
Adjustments:
Amortization of goodwill 21,107 49,517
Amortization of acquired workforce previously classified
as purchased intangible assets 695 1,370
Net adjustments 21,802 50,887
Adjusted net income (loss) $ (36,944) $ (259,757) $ (54,992) $ (255,513)
I I I I
Reported net loss per share basic and diluted $ ©0.47) $ (3.64) $ 0.70) $ (3.98)
Adjusted net income (loss) per share basic and diluted $ ©0.47) $ (3.36) $ 0.70) $ (3.32)

The estimated future amortization expense of purchased intangible assets is as follows:

Year Ended January 31, Amount

(In thousands)
2003* $ 4,518
2004 8,609
2005 4,498
2006 953

* Remaining six months
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Wind River is required to perform an assessment of whether there was an indication that goodwill is impaired as of the date of Wind River's
adoption of SFAS 142. To accomplish this, Wind River was required to identify its reporting units and determine the carrying value of each
reporting unit by assigning the assets and liabilities, including the existing goodwill and intangible assets, to those reporting units as of
February 1, 2002. Wind River currently operates in one reportable segment, which is also the only reporting unit for purposes of SFAS 142.
Since Wind River currently only has one reporting unit, all of the goodwill has been assigned to the enterprise as a whole. In July 2002, Wind
River completed the transitional goodwill impairment tests required by SFAS 142 with the assistance of a third-party valuation consultant, and
determined that the goodwill was not impaired at February 1, 2002. The primary method used to determine the fair values for SFAS 142
impairment purposes was the discounted cash flow method.

SFAS 142 also requires that Wind River test goodwill for impairment on an annual basis as well as when circumstances indicate a possible
impairment. Wind River has determined that it will conduct its annual impairment tests during its second fiscal quarter. The deterioration of the
telecommunications industry as well as the decline in Wind River's current product sales in the second quarter of fiscal 2003 were factors that
also required Wind River to evaluate the fair value of the goodwill. During the quarter ended July 31, 2002, Wind River therefore completed its
annual impairment test and its second

quarter trigger test with the assistance of a third-party valuation consultant, and concluded that there was no impairment of goodwill. The
primary method used to determine the fair values for SFAS 142 impairment purposes was the discounted cash flow method. The assumptions
supporting the cash flows, including the discount rate, which was assumed to be 17%, were determined using Wind River's best estimates as of
the date of the impairment review.

Note 3: Revenue Recognition

Wind River derives revenue from two sources: (i) product revenue and (ii) service revenue. Product revenues consist of royalties and fees
for operating systems and fees for the use of development tools. Wind River licenses its software products under perpetual as well as time-based
arrangements. Service revenues are derived from fees from professional services, which include design and development fees, software
maintenance contracts, and customer training and consulting. Maintenance contract renewals are generally sold separately from Wind River's
products. Wind River's customers consist of end users, distributors, original equipment manufacturers, system integrators and value-added
resellers. Agreements generally do not allow the right of return or sales price adjustments.

Wind River recognizes revenue in accordance with Statement of Position ("SOP") 97-2, "Software Revenue Recognition," as amended,
SOP 81-1, "Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts" and Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB")
101, "Revenue Recognition."

Wind River recognizes revenue when (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (ii) delivery has occurred, (iii) the vendor's fee is
fixed or determinable and (iv) vendor-specific objective evidence ("VSOE") exists to allocate the total fee to all undelivered elements of the
arrangement and collection is determined to be probable. These four criteria are further described below:

Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists. Wind River's customary practice is to have written non-cancelable contracts and
a customer purchase order prior to recognizing revenue on an arrangement.

Delivery has occurred. Product revenues for software and hardware are recognized at the time of shipment or upon the delivery
of a product master, with standard transfer terms of FOB shipping point. If undelivered products or services exist that are essential to
the functionality of the delivered product in an arrangement, delivery is not considered to have occurred. If evidence of fair value of all
undelivered elements exists, then revenue is recognized using the residual method. Under the residual method, the fair value of the
undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining portion of the arrangement fee is recognized as revenue.

Wind River recognizes revenues from one-year, time-based licenses ratably over the term of the agreement. For multi-year
time-based licenses, Wind River defers recognition of the fees associated with the VSOE of the maintenance and support over the term
of the license and recognizes the residual contract amount in the period in which the agreement is signed, so long as it has VSOE for
undelivered elements, which typically consist of maintenance and support. Where VSOE does not exist for undelivered elements,
Wind River recognizes the fees ratably over the term of the multi-year license.

10
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Sales to distributors, original equipment manufacturers, system integrators and value-added resellers are recognized either at the
time the risks of ownership have transferred or upon receipt of royalty reports related to the sale of product to an end-user, depending
on Wind River's historical experience with these customers.

Service revenues from professional services contracts are recognized as the services are performed for time-and-materials
contracts and using the percentage-of-completion basis for fixed-price contracts. Service revenues from software maintenance, support
and update fees are recognized ratably over the contract period, which in most instances is one year. Service revenues from training
and consulting are recognized when the services are provided.

The vendor's fee is fixed or determinable. At the time of each transaction, Wind River assesses whether the fee associated with a
revenue transaction is fixed or determinable based on the payment terms associated with the transaction. If any portion of a fee is due
after Wind River's standard payment terms, which are generally no greater than 90 days from invoice date, Wind River accounts for
the fee as not being fixed or determinable. In these cases, revenue is recognized as the fees become due.

Collection is probable. 'Wind River assesses probability of collection based on a number of factors, including its past
transaction history with the customer and the credit-worthiness of the customer. New customers and certain existing customers are
subject to a credit review process that evaluates the customers' financial position and ultimately their ability to pay according to the
original terms of the arrangement. Based on Wind River's review process, if it is determined from the outset of an arrangement that
collection of the resulting receivable is not probable, then revenue is recognized on a cash-collected basis.

Significant management judgments and estimates are made in connection with the revenues recognized in any accounting period. Wind
River must assess whether the fee associated with a revenue transaction is fixed or determinable and whether or not collection is probable.
Material differences could result in the amount and timing of revenues for any period if management were to make different judgments or utilize
different estimates.

Note 4: Cash and Cash Equivalents, Investments and Restricted Cash

Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with remaining maturity at the date of purchase of three months or less. These fixed
income securities are readily convertible to cash and are stated at cost, which approximates fair value. Fair value is determined based upon the
quoted market prices of the securities as of the balance sheet date.

Investments with original maturities greater than three months and less than or equal to one year are classified as short-term investments.
Investments with original maturities greater than one year are classified as long-term investments. Wind River accounts for its investments,
including marketable equity securities, money market funds, municipal bonds, U.S. government and agency obligations, corporate bonds and
other debt securities, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt
and Equity Securities." Wind River determines the appropriate classification of its investments at the time of purchase and re-evaluates such
classification at each balance sheet date. Wind River has classified all of its investments as available-for-sale and carries such investments at fair
value, with unrealized gains and losses reported in

the accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) component of stockholders' equity until disposition. The cost of securities sold is based on
the specific identification method. Realized gains or losses and declines in value, which are judged to be other-than-temporary, are reported in
other income or expense.

Wind River values its publicly held investments using the closing price of the stock at the end of each month. As a result, Wind River
reflects these investments on its balance sheet as of July 31, 2002, as long-term investments, at their aggregate market value of approximately
$463,000. During the three months ended July 31, 2002, Wind River recorded an impairment charge on these publicly held investments of
$259,000, which represented the amount of other-than-temporary decline as of the date of impairment.

Wind River has certain other minority investments in non-publicly traded companies. These investments were included as a component of
other long-term assets on Wind River's balance sheet and were carried at cost, subject to adjustment for impairment. Due to the economic
downturn and specifically the decline in the telecommunications sector, Wind River recorded further impairment losses on its investments in
private companies of $4.0 million during the three months ended July 31, 2002, and $2.3 million and $3.3 million during the three and six month
periods ended July 31, 2001, respectively. As a result of this write-down recorded during the quarter ended July 31, 2002, Wind River has no

11
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remaining investment book value on its balance sheet relating to private companies.

Restricted cash consists of the investments held as collateral under the operating leases for Wind River's headquarters and interest rate swap
agreements.

Note 5: Derivative Financial Instruments

Wind River enters into foreign currency forward exchange contracts to manage foreign currency exposures related to certain foreign
currency denominated inter-company balances. Additionally, Wind River may adjust its foreign currency hedging position by taking out
additional contracts or by terminating or offsetting existing forward contracts. These adjustments may result from changes in the underlying
foreign currency exposures or from fundamental shifts in the economics of particular exchange rates. Gains and losses on terminated forward
contracts, or on contracts that are offset, are recognized in income in the period of contract termination or offset. As of July 31, 2002, Wind
River had outstanding forward contracts with notional amounts of $7.6 million. At January 31, 2002, Wind River had no outstanding forward
contracts.

In March 1998, Wind River entered into an interest rate swap agreement to reduce the impact of changes in interest rates on its first floating
rate operating lease for its corporate headquarters. The interest rate swap effectively changes Wind River's interest rate exposure on its operating
lease, which is at the one-month London interbank offering rate ("LIBOR"), to a fixed rate of 5.9%. As of both July 31, 2002 and January 31,
2002, the notional amount of this interest rate swap was $28.5 million.

In January 2001, Wind River entered into another interest rate swap agreement to mitigate the impact of changes in interest rates on its
second floating rate operating lease for additional construction at its headquarters facility. This second interest rate swap changes Wind River's
interest rate exposure on its second operating lease, which is at one-month LIBOR, to a fixed rate of 5.6%. As of both July 31, 2002 and
January 31, 2002, the notional amount of this interest rate swap was $27.9 million. Wind River's potential credit exposure under the interest rate
swaps (arising from the

10

inability of the counter parties to meet the terms of their contracts) is limited to the amounts, if any, by which the counter parties' obligations
exceed the obligations of Wind River.

The fair value of these interest rate swap liabilities was approximately $4.1 million and $2.6 million at July 31, 2002 and January 31, 2002,
respectively, and was recorded as a long-term liability and as a component of comprehensive loss. The interest rate swap agreements mature at
the same time that the respective operating lease expires.

Note 6: Restructuring and Other Nonrecurring Costs

Restructuring and other nonrecurring costs consists of costs associated with restructuring programs implemented by Wind River and costs
associated with the settlement of litigation and related remediation efforts.

Restructuring Costs

In May 2001, Wind River announced initial cost control measures that included a reduction of its worldwide work force, organizational
restructuring and certain measures aimed at controlling operational expenses. In May 2002, Wind River announced additional cost control
measures that included further reduction of its worldwide work force and measures focused on further reducing operational expenses. In both the
May 2001 and May 2002 restructuring programs, Wind River made permanent and temporary adjustments to the business operations in order to
optimize operating efficiency.

As a result of the decisions to restructure its business, Wind River recorded restructuring costs of $13.9 million and $28.6 million in the
quarters ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, in each case classified as operating expenses. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002, Wind
River recorded a reversal of $6.9 million such that the net restructuring charge for fiscal year 2002 was $21.7 million.

As of January 31, 2002, the remaining restructuring liabilities related to the May 2001 restructuring program totaled $5.2 million. The
following table provides detailed restructuring liabilities at the end of the fiscal year 2002, total charges recorded in the three months ended
July 31, 2002, cash payments made during the six months ended July 31, 2002, non-cash write-offs for the six months ended July 31, 2002, and
the aggregate remaining restructuring liabilities for both the May 2001 and the May 2002 restructuring programs as of July 31, 2002:
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Non-Cash Cash Non-Cash
Cash Charges Charges for  Total Charges Payments Write-offs
Restructuring for the Three the Three for the Three for the Six for the Six Restructuring

Liabilities as of Months Ended Months Ended Months Ended Months Ended Months Ended Liabilities at
January 31,2002  July 31,2002  July 31,2002  July 31,2002  July 31,2002  July 31, 2002 July 31, 2002

(In thousands)
Work force reduction $ 4294 $ 10,429 $ $ 10,429 $ (11,843) $ $ 2,880
Consolidation of excess
facilities 949 1,607 355 1,962 (445) (347) 2,119
Other 356 1,190 1,546 (81) (1,198) 267
Total $ 5243 $ 12,392 $ 1,545 $ 13,937 $ (12,369) $ (1,545) $ 5,266
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The following paragraphs provide detailed information relating to the restructuring costs that were recorded during the quarters ended
July 31, 2002 and 2001.

Worldwide Work Force Reduction. The May 2002 and 2001 restructuring programs resulted in the reduction of 219 and 425 employees,
respectively, across all business functions, operating units and geographic regions. The worldwide work force reductions implemented as part of
the May 2001 restructuring were substantially completed as of July 31, 2002. The May 2002 worldwide work force reduction started in the
quarter ended July 31, 2002, and will be substantially completed during the third quarter of fiscal 2003. In addition, the number of contractors
and temporary workers employed by Wind River was reduced as a result of both restructuring programs.

Wind River recorded work force reduction charges of approximately $10.4 million and $20.1 million during the quarters ended July 31,
2002 and 2001, respectively, relating primarily to severance payments and the continuation of benefits. During the quarter ended July 31, 2001,
equipment disposed of or removed from operations as a result of the work force reduction resulted in a charge of $765,000 and consisted
primarily of computer equipment.

Consolidation of Excess Facilities. 'Wind River recorded restructuring charges of $2.0 million and $8.4 million during the quarters ended
July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, relating to the consolidation of certain excess facilities primarily in the United States, Japan and the United
Kingdom. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002, Wind River recorded a reversal of $6.9 million against the $8.4 million charge after Wind River
determined that certain of such facilities could continue to be used by Wind River personnel. The consolidation of excess facilities includes the
closure of certain leased corporate facilities and sales offices that related to business activities that were restructured. The estimated excess
facility costs represent the remaining lease payments and estimated costs less estimated proceeds from sub-leasing certain facilities. The
estimated proceeds from sub-leasing these facilities are based on current comparable rates for leases in the respective markets. If the facilities
operating lease rental rates continue to decrease in these markets or it takes longer than expected to find a suitable tenant to sublease these
facilities, the actual loss could exceed this estimate. Cash and non-cash charges relate primarily to lease terminations, non-cancelable lease costs
and impairment of leasehold improvements related to the excess facilities. Amounts accrued related to the net lease expense due to the
consolidation of excess facilities consolidated as a result of the May 2002 and May 2001 restructuring programs will be paid through fiscal 2006
and 2005, respectively, unless Wind River successfully negotiates to exit the leases at an earlier date.

Other Items. During the quarter ended July 31, 2002, Wind River recorded a restructuring charge of $1.5 million relating to other items,
primarily consisting of the write-offs of capitalized software, leasehold improvements associated with office closures and inventory relating to
products that management decided to discontinue during the quarter.

Litigation-related costs

During the three months ended July 31, 2002, Wind River recorded a charge of $3.7 million relating to the settlement of litigation with a
third party and related remediation efforts. For further information on the underlying claims, refer to Item 2 "Legal Proceedings."

Note 7:  Other Borrowings

As of July 31, 2002, Wind River had United States dollar equivalent net borrowings of $12.1 million from a line of credit obtained through
its Japanese subsidiary for up to 2.1 billion Japanese yen or approximately $17.6 million. Wind River extended the line of credit until August 30,
2002, at an average annual interest rate of 2.9% on any borrowed amount. Refer to Note 13, "Subsequent Events" for information regarding the
repayment of this line of credit.
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Note 8: Stockholder's Equity
Stock Repurchase Program

In June 2002, the Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program to enable Wind River to acquire outstanding common stock in
the open market or negotiated transactions. Under the program, Wind River may, but is not required to, purchase up to $30.0 million of Wind
River common stock over two years. During the quarter ended July 31, 2002, Wind River repurchased approximately 762,500 shares of Wind
River common stock for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $3.9 million. Purchases were made on the Nasdaq Stock Market at
prevailing open market prices and paid out of general corporate funds. Shares repurchased through the program are held as treasury stock.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is defined as the change in equity of a company during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances
excluding transactions resulting from investments by owners and distributions to owners. The difference between net loss and comprehensive
loss for Wind River results from foreign currency translation adjustments, mark to market adjustments on interest rate swap and unrealized gains
and losses on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes.

Comprehensive loss for the three and six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001 is as follows:

Three Months Ended July 31, Six Months Ended July 31,
2002 2001 2002 2001
(In thousands)

Net loss $ (36,944) $ (281,559) $ (54,992) $ (306,400)
Other comprehensive loss:

Foreign currency translation adjustments 872 (359) 1,494 (2,172)

Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale

securities 60 12 61) (1,084)

Fair value measurement of interest rate swap (1,426) (1,506)

Total other comprehensive loss (494) (347) (73) (3,256)
Total comprehensive loss $ (37,438) $ (281,906) $ (55,065) $ (309,656)

Note 9: Net Loss Per Share Computation

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, "Earnings Per Share," the calculation of shares used in basic and
diluted net loss per share computation is presented below:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
July 31, July 31,
2002 2001 2002 2001
(In thousands)
Shares used in basic net loss per share computation 79,035 77,354 78,901 77,070
Effect of dilutive potential common shares
Shares used in diluted net loss per share computation 79,035 77,354 78,901 77,070
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Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
July 31, July 31,

The effect of assumed conversion of the convertible subordinated notes of 6.2 million shares for both the three and six months ended
July 31, 2002, and 4.0 million shares for both the three and six months ended July 31, 2001, respectively, is anti-dilutive, and is therefore
excluded from both of the above computations. In addition, dilutive potential common shares totaling approximately 408,000 and
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678,000 for the three and six months ended July 31, 2002, respectively, and 1.9 million and 2.3 million for the three and six months ended

July 31, 2001, respectively, were excluded from the computation of the number of shares used in the diluted net loss per share calculations as
their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. Since Wind River has a net loss for all periods presented, net loss per share on a diluted basis is equivalent
to basic net loss per share.

Note 10: Commitments and Contingencies

In fiscal 1998, Wind River entered into an operating lease for its headquarters facility constructed on the land Wind River purchased in
Alameda, California under terms and conditions commonly known as a "synthetic lease." In fiscal 2000, Wind River entered into a second
operating lease agreement for the construction of two additional buildings at its headquarters facility. None of Wind River's officers or
employees has any financial interest in these synthetic lease arrangements.

The lessor has funded a total of $32.4 million of construction costs related to the first operating lease and $25.0 million of construction
costs related to the second operating lease. The operating lease payments under both leases vary based upon the total construction costs of the
property, including capitalized interest at LIBOR. In connection with the lease of Wind River's headquarters, Wind River leased the land to the
lessor of the building at a nominal rate and for a term of 55 years. If Wind River were to terminate the ground lease prior to maturity, it would be
obligated to purchase the buildings for 100% of the amount financed. The operating leases provide Wind River with the option, at the end of
their terms, to either acquire the buildings at the lessor's original cost or arrange for the buildings to be acquired. Both leases have initial terms of
seven years but may be renewed under certain circumstances. Unless renewed, the first lease will terminate in September 2004 and the second
lease will terminate in November 2006. As of July 31, 2002, Wind River had not made a decision with respect to the option it will pursue at the
end of the lease terms, and it may seek to amend or terminate these lease arrangements prior to the end of the lease term. However, it is likely
that Wind River will decide to continue to occupy the buildings, and may therefore purchase the buildings or arrange for their purchase and lease
back.

Under the terms of the leases, Wind River must maintain compliance with certain financial covenants, relating to minimum consolidated
fixed charge ratio, minimum EBITDA, minimum tangible net worth and minimum net unencumbered cash. As of July 31, 2002, Wind River was
in compliance with each of the applicable covenants. There can be no assurance that Wind River will continue to be in compliance with these
covenants, particularly if its revenues continue to be negatively impacted by the economy or other factors or if Wind River is not able to control
its costs adequately. Further, in the event Wind River was not in compliance with the covenants, there can be no assurance that it would be able
to obtain a waiver or amendment of the covenants, and, if it could not, Wind River may become obligated to purchase the buildings, as discussed
below, and could incur additional costs associated with replacing the synthetic leases. In the event of a default, Wind River's obligation to
purchase the leased properties for 100% of the amount financed by the lessor could be accelerated.

If the leases were terminated as a result of either an event of default or Wind River's exercise of its purchase option, and Wind River
became obligated to pay the purchase price of the buildings, Wind River would reflect the purchase price as an asset on its balance sheet, and its
restricted cash and investment position would be reduced by the amount of the purchase price. Currently, Wind River reflects rent payments as
an expense on its statement of operations. In the event Wind River purchased the buildings (as a result of an event of default or its election to do
80), its rent expense for the buildings would cease and Wind River would subsequently record depreciation expense for the buildings over their
estimated useful lives. Although no assurance can be given, management believes
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that Wind River's purchase of the buildings would not have a material adverse effect on Wind River's financial condition, results of operations or
cash flows, provided the fair value of the buildings was greater than the purchase price. However, if at the time the leases were terminated the
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fair value of the buildings was less than the purchase price, Wind River would be required to record a one-time charge for the difference
between the purchase price and the fair value of the buildings which, depending on the magnitude of the charge, could have a material adverse
effect on Wind River's financial position, results of operations and cash flows. Additionally, if during the life of the leases, Wind River were to
make a determination that the fair value of the buildings was less than the purchase price, Wind River would be required to amortize the
difference between the fair value and the purchase price on a straight line basis over the remaining lives of the leases. Depending on the
magnitude of these differences, these additional charges could have a material adverse effect on Wind River's financial position, results of
operations, and cash flows.

Wind River has guaranteed the residual value associated with the buildings under the first operating lease and the second operating lease to
the lessor of a fixed amount of approximately 82% and 85%, respectively, of the lessor's actual funding of the two leases. If Wind River does not
purchase the buildings upon maturity of the operating leases, it may be obligated to pay the amount of the residual value guarantee to the lessor.
Wind River has deposited fixed income securities with a custodian to ensure the performance of its obligations under the leases; as of July 31,
2002 and January 31, 2002, Wind River held $60.3 million in cash and cash equivalents as restricted cash in satisfaction of this requirement. In
addition, Wind River holds $3.4 million of restricted cash associated with related interest rate swaps. The amounts held as restricted cash as of
July 31, 2002 are sufficient to satisfy performance of Wind River's obligations under the operating leases. The majority of restricted cash
represents the costs incurred for construction of the buildings.

From time to time, Wind River is subject to legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business, including claims of alleged
infringement of patents and other intellectual property rights. Wind River is not currently aware of any legal proceedings or claims that Wind
River believes will have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on Wind River's financial position, results of operations or
cash flows.

Note 11: Segment and Geographic Information

Wind River reports in one industry segment technology for embedded systems. Wind River markets its products and related services to
customers in North America, Europe, Japan and Asia Pacific. Internationally, Wind River markets its products and services primarily through its
subsidiaries and various distributors. Revenues are attributed to geographic areas based on the country in which the customer is domiciled. The
distribution of revenues and long-lived assets, net by geographic location is as follows:

Revenues
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended Long-Lived Assets
July 31, July 31,
As of As of
July 31, January 31,
2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2002
(In thousands)
North America $ 35,095 $ 48,384 $ 75,390 $ 118,326 $ 158,238 $ 173,903
Japan 6,960 7,508 12,869 18,361 6,598 7,385
Other international 21,527 24,338 41,682 53,735 1,573 6,569
Consolidated $ 63,582 $ 80,230 $ 129941 $ 190,422 $ 172,409 $ 187,857
I I I I I I
15
Other international consists of the revenues and long-lived assets of operations in Europe and Asia Pacific.
Revenue information on a product and services basis is as follows:
Three Months Ended July 31, Six Months Ended July 31,
2002 2001 2002 2001
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Three Months Ended July 31, Six Months Ended July 31,

(In thousands)

Software license revenues $ 25418 $ 38,366 $ 51,667 $ 87,956
Run-time license revenues 16,883 16,184 34,359 40,264
Maintenance revenues 12,958 14,060 25,570 34,808
Other service revenues 8,323 11,620 18,345 27,394

Total $ 63,582 $ 80,230 $ 129,941  $ 190,422

No single customer accounted for more than 10% of Wind River's total revenues in the three or six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001.
Note 12: Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 146, "Accounting for
Exit or Disposal Activities" ("SFAS 146"). SFAS 146 addresses significant issues regarding the recognition, measurement, and reporting of
costs that are associated with exit and disposal activities, including restructuring activities that are currently accounted for under Emerging
Issues Task Force ("EITF") No. 94-3, "Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity
(including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)" ("EITF No. 94-3"). The scope of SFAS 146 also includes costs related to terminating a
contract that is not a capital lease and termination benefits that employees who are involuntarily terminated receive under the terms of a one-time
benefit arrangement that is not an ongoing benefit arrangement or an individual deferred-compensation contract. SFAS 146 will be effective for
exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002 and early application is encouraged. The provisions of EITF No. 94-3 shall
continue to apply for an exit activity initiated under an exit plan that met the criteria of EITF No. 94-3 prior to the adoption of SFAS 146. The
effect on adoption of SFAS 146 will change on a prospective basis the timing of when restructuring charges are recorded from a commitment
date approach to when the liability is incurred. Wind River is currently assessing the impact of SFAS 146 on its financial statements.

Note 13: Subsequent Events

On August 30, 2002, Wind River repaid the entire line of credit obtained through its Japanese subsidiary, which line of credit is described
in Note 7 above.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Forward Looking Statements

The following Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains forward-looking
statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements include the sentences in the sentence in
the fifth paragraph under " Revenues" regarding expectations for international sales; the sentences in the second and third paragraphs under "Cost
of Revenues" regarding factors that may affect product related costs of revenues in the future and our expectations regarding cost of service
revenues in absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue; the sentences in the first, second and third paragraphs under " Operating Expenses"
regarding our expectations about selling and marketing expenses, product development and engineering expenses, and general and
administrative expenses, respectively; the statements under " Restructuring and Other Nonrecurring Costs" regarding our expectations as to when
the impact of the restructuring efforts will be realized; the statements under "Liquidity and Capital Resources Commitments" about our
expectations regarding amendment or termination of our synthetic leases, our ability to obtain a waiver or amendment of the lease agreement and
the impact that an event of default or termination of the leases would have on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows; the
sentences in the last paragraph of "Liquidity and Capital Resources" regarding our beliefs about future liquidity and capital requirements; and
the statements under "Recent Accounting Pronouncements" regarding the impact on Wind River of the adoption of the pronouncement discussed
thereunder.
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These forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties that may
cause our results, levels of activity, performance or achievements or those of our industry to be materially different from those expressed or
implied by the forward-looking statements. The cautionary statements set forth below and in "Additional Risk Factors that May Affect Future
Results of Operations" identify important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in any such forward-looking
statements. Additionally, see our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2002 for further discussion of these factors.
We do not intend to update any of the forward-looking statements contained in this report to reflect any future events or developments unless
required by law. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the condensed consolidated financial statements and notes
included elsewhere in this report.

Overview

Wind River is a leading supplier of software solutions and development tools for embedded systems. An embedded system consists of a
microprocessor, or a series of microprocessors, and related software and is used to control, monitor or assist the operation of electronic devices,
equipment and machinery. Embedded systems are used in diverse products such as cellular phones, digital imaging products, auto braking
systems, internet routers, jet fighter control panels and factory automation devices. Our products, including our flagship products, the Tornado®
development platform and the VxWorks® real-time operating system, help customers to enhance product performance, standardize designs
across projects, reduce research and development costs and shorten product development cycles. We sell our products to customers in a variety
of markets, including aerospace and defense, automotive, digital consumer, industrial measurement and networking.

We market our products and services in North America, Europe, Japan and the Asia Pacific region primarily through our own direct sales
organization, which consists of sales persons and field engineers. We also license international distributors, primarily in the Asia Pacific region,

to serve customers in
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regions not serviced by our direct sales force. Wind River was incorporated in California in February 1983 and reincorporated in Delaware in
April 1993.

For a discussion of our critical accounting policies, please refer to "Critical Accounting Policies," in Item 7, "Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2002,
which was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 30, 2002.

Results of Operations

Beginning in fiscal 2002, we were significantly impacted by the economic downturn, which has been especially pronounced in the
high-technology sector generally and the telecommunications sector in particular. The downturn, as well as its adverse impact on our revenues,
has continued into the first and second quarters of fiscal 2003. Our revenues were $63.6 million and $80.2 million for the three months ended
July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and $129.9 million and $190.4 million for the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Net
loss was $36.9 million, or $0.47 per share, for the quarter ended July 31, 2002 compared to a net loss of $281.6 million, or $3.64 per share, for
the quarter ended July 31, 2001. Net loss was $55.0 million, or $0.70 per share, for the six months ended July 31, 2002 compared to a net loss of
$306.4 million, or $3.98 per share, for the six months ended July 31, 2001. On February 1, 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142 ("SFAS 142") and, accordingly, we did not amortize any goodwill in the three and six months ended July 31, 2002. If we had
not amortized goodwill in the three and six month periods ended July 31, 2001, net loss would have been $259.8 million, or $3.36 per share, for
the three months ended July 31, 2001, and $255.5 million, or $3.32 per share for the six months ended July 31, 2001. Refer to Note 2
"Acquisitions” to Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for further information about the impact on net loss and net loss per
share had the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" been applicable for the three and
six months ended July 31, 2001 and 2000.

In May 2002, we implemented a restructuring plan, which included a headcount reduction and the implementation of other cost saving
measures, and recorded a restructuring charge of $13.9 million during the quarter ended July 31, 2002. See "Results of Operations" and " Factors
That May Affect Future Results The continuing economic downturn has adversely impacted, and may continue to adversely impact, our revenues
and earnings," for a further discussion regarding the impact of the economic downturn on our financial condition and results of operations.
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The following table sets forth certain consolidated statement of operations data as a percentage of revenues for the periods indicated:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
July 31, July 31,
2002 2001 2002 2001
Revenues, net:
Products 67% 68% 66% 67%
Services 33 32 34 33
Total revenues 100 100 100 100
Cost of revenues:
Products 7 8 8 7
Services 20 19 21 17
Total cost of revenues 27 27 29 24
Gross profit 73 73 71 76
Operating expenses:
Selling and marketing 52 49 51 44
Product development and engineering 28 27 30 25
General and administrative 13 12 14 11
Amortization of goodwill and purchased intangibles 4 30 3 29
Impairment of goodwill and purchased intangibles 281 118
Restructuring and other nonrecurring costs 28 36 14 15
Total operating expenses 125 435 112 242
Loss from operations (52) (362) (41) (166)
Other income (expense):
Interest income 5 5 5 5
Interest expense 3) 3) 3) 2)
Other expense, net ®) 4) @))]
Total other income (expense) (6) 2 2) 2
Loss before provision for (benefit from) income taxes (58) (360) 43) (164)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes () 1 3)
Net loss (58)% (B5)% (44)% 161)%
I I I I

Revenues

Revenues consist of product revenues and service revenues, net of sales returns and other allowances. Product revenues consist of royalties
and fees for operating systems, hardware, licenses, and fees for the use of development tools. Service revenues are derived from fees from
professional services, which include design and development fees, software maintenance contracts, and customer training and consulting. We
accrue for sales returns and other allowances based on historical experience. Total revenues were $63.6 million for the three months ended
July 31, 2002 compared to $80.2 million for the three months ended July 31, 2001. Total revenues were $129.9 million for the six months ended
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July 31, 2002 compared to $190.4 million for the six months ended July 31, 2001. The decrease in total revenues of 21% and 32% for the three
and six months ended July 31, 2002, respectively, compared to the corresponding periods in the prior year is primarily due to the continuing
economic downturn in the high-technology sector generally and the telecommunications sector in particular. This downturn has affected us both
directly, through a decline in direct sales, and indirectly,
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because our products are incorporated into our customers' products, and as our customers' sales decline, our royalty revenue declines as well.

Our product revenues, excluding run-time royalties, decreased 34% to $25.4 million in the three months ended July 31, 2002 compared to
$38.4 million in the three months ended July 31, 2001. Run-time royalties increased 4% to $16.9 million in the three months ended July 31,
2002, compared to $16.2 million in the three months ended July 31, 2001. Our product revenues, excluding run-time royalties, decreased 41% to
$51.7 million in the six months ended July 31, 2002 compared to $88.0 million in the six months ended July 31, 2001. Run-time royalties
declined 15% to $34.4 million in the six months ended July 31, 2002, compared to $40.3 million in the six months ended July 31, 2001. Product
revenues accounted for approximately 67% and 68% of total revenues in the three months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and 66%
and 67% in the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The general decline in product revenues is primarily due to lower
customer demand for hardware and software products, including run-time royalties, which are generally tied to the number of customer products
deployed. During fiscal 2002 and continuing in the first and second quarters of fiscal 2003, some of our customers deferred or canceled projects,
in whole or in part, and experienced budgeting constraints causing a reduction in their purchases of our products. Also, we cannot anticipate or
calculate the potential adverse impact of open source or in-house software on our revenues particularly where our customer's budget constraints
may make such software more appealing than Wind River products for their initial project development.

Service revenues decreased 17% to $21.3 million in the three months ended July 31, 2002, compared to $25.7 million in the three months
ended July 31, 2001, and decreased 29% to $43.9 million in the six months ended July 31, 2002 compared to $62.2 million in the six months
ended July 31, 2001. The decrease in the three and six months periods ended July 31, 2002 compared to the same periods ended July 31, 2002
was primarily due to lower customer demand for maintenance, consulting and training services as a result of the continuing economic downturn
in the high-technology sector. Maintenance revenues decreased 8% to $13.0 million in the three months ended July 31, 2002, compared to
$14.1 million in the three months ended July 31, 2001, and decreased 27% to $25.6 million in the six months ended July 31, 2002, compared to
$34.8 million in the six months ended July 31, 2001. Other service revenues, which includes training, engineering and professional services,
declined 28% to $8.3 million in the three months ended July 31, 2002 from $11.6 million in the three months ended July 31, 2001 and declined
33% to $18.3 million in the six months ended July 31, 2002 from $27.4 million in the six months ended July 31, 2001. Service revenues
accounted for approximately 33% and 32% of total revenues in the three months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and approximately
34% and 33% of total revenues in the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Revenues from international sales decreased by 11% to $28.5 million in the three months ended July 31, 2002 compared to $31.8 million in
the three months ended July 31, 2001, and decreased 24% to $54.6 million in the six months ended July 31, 2002 compared to $72.1 million in
the six months ended July 31, 2001. The overall decrease during the three months ended July 31, 2002 compared to the three months ended
July 31, 2001 was due to a 7% decline in revenues from Japan, a 14% decrease in revenues from Europe and a 4% decline in revenues from Asia
Pacific. The overall decrease during the six months ended July 31, 2002 compared to the six months ended July 31, 2001 was due to a 30%
decline in revenues from Japan, a 26% decline in revenues from Europe and a 12% decline in revenues from Asia Pacific.

Revenues from Japan were $7.0 million and $7.5 million in the three months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and $12.9 million
and $18.4 million in the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Revenues in Europe were $15.8 million and $18.4 million in the
three months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and $30.3 million and $40.8 million in the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. Revenues from Asia Pacific were $5.7 million and $5.9 million in
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the three months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and $11.4 million and $12.9 million in the six months ended July 31, 2002 and
2001, respectively. The declines in Japan, Europe and Asia Pacific were primarily the result of local economic slowdowns, which caused lower
demand for our products and services. Additionally, many of our customers are large multinational corporations that have reduced capital
spending across all geographic regions. Overall, however, international sales were not as adversely affected by the decrease in customer
spending as were domestic sales in both the three and six months ended July 31, 2002 compared to the same periods in 2001. As a result,
international revenues accounted for 45% and 42% of total revenues for the three months and six months ended July 31, 2002, compared to 40%
and 38% in the three and six months ended July 31, 2001. We expect international sales to continue to represent a significant portion of

20



Edgar Filing: WIND RIVER SYSTEMS INC - Form 10-Q

revenues, although the actual percentage may fluctuate from period to period. Our international sales are mostly denominated in local currencies.

We cannot predict how long or severe the current economic downturn will be. As a result of this uncertainty, forecasting and financial and
strategic planning are more difficult than usual. If the downturn continues for an extended period or becomes more severe, our business will
suffer and we may experience additional declines in sales, as well as continued losses, as our customers attempt to limit their spending. In
addition, the adverse impact of the downturn on the capital markets could impair our ability to raise capital as needed and impede our ability to
expand our business. For further discussion about factors affecting our revenues see " Factors That May Affect Future Results."

Costs of Revenues

The overall cost of products and services as a percentage of total revenues was 27% for both the three months ended July 31, 2002 and
2001, and 29% and 24% in the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Cost of products was $4.7 million and $6.8 million in the three months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, reflecting a decrease of
31%. Cost of products was $10.2 million and $13.8 million in the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, reflecting a decrease
of 26%. Product-related cost of revenues as a percentage of product revenues was 11% and 12% in the three months ended July 31, 2002 and
2001, respectively, and 12% and 11% in the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Product-related costs consist primarily of
salaries and benefits for production employees, product media, amortization of capitalized software development costs, royalty expense related
to the use of third parties' software in our products, documentation and packaging. The declines in product-related costs in absolute dollars in the
three and six months ended July 31, 2002 and as a percentage of revenue for the three months ended July 31, 2002 as compared to the
comparable periods in 2001 were primarily due to lower product costs associated with lower hardware revenues together with savings achieved
as a result of our restructuring plan at our manufacturing facilities. Additionally, lower amortization expense relating to capitalized software
development costs and lower third-party royalty costs contributed to the decline in product-related costs. Amortization of capitalized software
development costs included in cost of products amounted to $186,000 and $358,000 for the three months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively, and $417,000 and $748,000 for the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Third-party royalty costs included in
cost of products amounted to $1.6 million and $2.2 million for the three months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and $3.3 million
and $5.1 million for the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The increase in product-related costs as a percentage of product
revenues in the six months ended July 31, 2002 compared to the six months ended July 31, 2001 was due to a faster decline in the product
revenues base than the decline in the fixed costs associated with manufacturing and distribution overhead. Product-related cost of revenues may
be affected in the future by the amortization of capitalized software development costs, costs of distribution related to the introduction of new
products and by royalty costs for use of third-party software in our products.
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Cost of services was $13.0 million and $15.1 million in the three months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, reflecting a decrease
of 14%. Cost of services was $27.0 million and $33.3 million in the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, reflecting a decrease
of 19%. Service-related cost of revenues as a percentage of service revenues was 61% and 59% in the three months ended July 31, 2002 and
2001, respectively, and 61% and 54% in the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Service-related cost of revenues consist
primarily of personnel related costs associated with providing services, including consulting services, to customers and the infrastructure to
manage a services organization, as well as costs to recruit, develop, and retain services professionals. The decrease in absolute dollars of service
costs in the three and six months ended July 31, 2002 compared to the three and six months ended July 31, 2001 was primarily due to reduced
utilization of outside consultants and a reduction of full-time employees as part of the restructuring plans we implemented in May 2001 and
May 2002. Due to the restructuring programs and lower services costs associated with lower services revenues, we realized cost reductions of
$470,000 in professional services costs, $766,000 in maintenance costs and $700,000 in training costs in the three months ended July 31, 2002
compared to the three months ended July 31, 2001. We realized cost reductions of $2.8 million in professional services costs, $1.6 million in
maintenance costs and $1.3 million in training costs for the six months ended July 31, 2002 compared to the six months ended July 31, 2001.
The increase in service-related costs as a percentage of service revenues in the three and six months ended July 31, 2002 was due to a faster
decline in the service revenues base than the decline in fixed costs associated with customer support, personnel and certified third-party
contractors within our professional services organization. We expect that the cost of service revenues will increase in absolute dollars in the long
term as we continue to expand our professional service organization and customer support capabilities. Additionally, we expect cost of services
to fluctuate as a percentage of service revenue based on progress of various consulting and professional service projects.

Operating Expenses

Selling and Marketing
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Selling and marketing expenses decreased 16% to $32.7 million in the three months ended July 31, 2002 from $38.8 million in the three
months ended July 31, 2001, and decreased 20% to $66.6 million in the six months ended July 31, 2002 from $83.2 million in the six months
ended July 31, 2001. As a percentage of total revenues, selling and marketing expenses were 52% and 49% in the three months ended July 31,
2002 and 2001, respectively, and 51% and 44% in the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The decrease in absolute dollars
of selling and marketing expenses in the three and six months ended July 31, 2002 compared to the three and six months ended July 31, 2001
was primarily attributable to lower sales commission expenses as a result of decreased sales volume, and decreased expenditures in various
areas, primarily payroll expense, internal sales events, marketing programs and recognition programs relating to the restructuring programs we
implemented in May 2001 and May 2002. Due to the residual impact from the May 2001 restructuring measures, the additional restructuring
measures taken in May 2002, and the general decline in sales, we realized cost reductions of approximately $1.2 million and $3.9 million in
sales commissions and $2.7 million and $5.0 million in payroll-related costs for the three and six months ended July 31, 2002, respectively, as
compared to the three and six months ended July 31, 2001, respectively. The increase in selling and marketing expenses as a percentage of
revenues was due to an overall lower revenue base and expenses declining at a slower rate than the decline in revenues. We believe selling and
marketing expenses in absolute dollars will continue to decrease during the third quarter of fiscal 2003 and stabilize during the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2003 as we expect to realize the full impact of the May 2002 restructuring program during the third quarter of fiscal 2003.
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Product Development and Engineering

Product development and engineering expenses decreased 18% to $17.8 million in the three months ended July 31, 2002 from $21.7 million
in the three months ended July 31, 2001, and also decreased 18% to $38.4 million in the six months ended July 31, 2002 from $47.0 million in
the six months ended July 31, 2001. As a percentage of total revenues, product development and engineering expenses were 28% and 27% in the
three months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and 30% and 25% in the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The
decrease in product development and engineering expenses in absolute dollars in the three and six months ended July 31, 2002 compared to the
same periods ended July 31, 2001 was primarily due to our implementation of cost-control measures related to the restructuring plans we
implemented in May 2001 and May 2002. Due to the residual impact from the May 2001 restructuring measures and the additional restructuring
measures taken in May 2002, we realized cost reductions of approximately $3.1 million and $4.5 million in payroll-related costs, together with
smaller saving achieved in various other areas, for the three and six months ended July 31, 2002, respectively, as compared to the three and six
months ended July 31, 2001, respectively. The increase in costs as a percentage of revenues in the three and six month periods ended July 31,
2002 compared to the same periods ended July 31, 2001 was primarily due to an overall lower revenue base and expenses declining at a slower
rate than the decline in revenues. In addition, we received $2.2 million and $1.0 million for the three months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively, and $3.2 million and $2.0 million for the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, of funded research and
development related primarily to our Center of Excellence initiative and other joint development efforts, which offset a portion of our gross
research and development expenses in the respective periods. Furthermore, we capitalized costs of $969,000 for both the three and six months
ended July 31, 2002, and $801,000 for both the three and six months ended July 31, 2001, respectively, associated with the engineering
development costs incurred after the establishment of technological feasibility of the software. We believe that product development and
engineering expenses in absolute dollars will not increase significantly in the short term. However, we do expect an increase in absolute dollars
in the long term, as we continue to focus on long-term growth in the areas of research and development.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses decreased 14% to $8.4 million in the three months ended July 31, 2002 from $9.8 million in the three
months ended July 31, 2001, and decreased 11% to $17.7 million in the six months ended July 31, 2002 from $19.8 million in the six months
ended July 31, 2001. As a percentage of total revenues, general and administrative expenses were 13% and 12% in the three months ended
July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and 14% and 11% in the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001. The decline in general and
administrative expenses in absolute dollars was the result of an overall decline in expenses due to our implementation of cost-control measures
related to the restructuring plans we implemented in May 2001 and May 2002. Due to the residual impact from the May 2001 restructuring
measures and the additional restructuring measures taken in May 2002, we realized cost reductions in the areas of payroll-related costs of
approximately $755,000 and $1.9 million and outside consulting costs of approximately $700,000 and $1.8 million for the three and six months
ended July 31, 2002, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended July 31, 2001, respectively. The decreases for the six months
ended July 31, 2002 compared to the same period in 2001 were partially offset by an increase in legal fees of $800,000 associated with certain
litigation matters incurred during the first quarter of fiscal year 2003. See Part II, Item 1 "Legal Proceedings" for a discussion of certain of those
litigation matters. The increase in expenses as a percentage of total revenues in the three and six months ended July 31, 2002 compared to the
same periods ended July 31, 2001 was primarily due to an overall lower revenue base and expenses declining at a slower rate than the decline in
revenues. We believe that general and administrative expenses will not increase significantly in absolute dollars in the short term as a result of
the implementation of our second
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restructuring program in May 2002. However, we do expect an increase in absolute dollars in the long term, as we continue to invest in
worldwide staff and infrastructure in the areas of information systems and finance and administration, and continue to consolidate the financial,
manufacturing, customer relations management and customer support information systems of acquired companies.

We allocate the total costs for information technology, facilities and fixed asset depreciation to each of the functional areas based on certain
headcount data. Fixed asset depreciation allocated costs include straight-line depreciation expense on buildings, leasehold improvements,
computer equipment, software, furniture and office equipment. Information technology allocated costs include salaries, information technology,
project costs, communication costs and their allocated share of depreciation expense for fixed assets. Facilities allocated costs include facility
rent for the corporate offices as well as shared function offices, property taxes, their allocated share of depreciation expenses for office furniture
and other department operating costs.

Amortization of Goodwill and Purchased Intangibles

Amortization of goodwill and purchased intangibles totaled $2.4 million and $24.3 million in the three months ended July 31, 2002 and
2001, respectively, and $4.5 million and $55.8 million in the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The significant decrease in
both the three and six month periods ended July 31, 2002 is primarily due to our adoption of SFAS 142 effective February 1, 2002, as a result of
which we did not amortize any goodwill in the three and six months ended July 31, 2002. In the three and six months ended July 31, 2001, we
recorded amortization of goodwill of $21.1 million and $49.5 million, respectively, and amortized $695,000 and $1.4 million, respectively, of
acquired workforce previously classified as purchased intangible assets, under the accounting rules existing during those periods.

Additionally, during the quarter ended July 31, 2001, we determined that the carrying value of certain goodwill and purchased intangible
assets were impaired due to changes in circumstances from those present at the time these assets were acquired. Accordingly, we recorded an
impairment charge of $225.4 million in the quarter ended July 31, 2001 to reduce the carrying values of goodwill and purchased intangible
assets to the present value of the future expected cash flows. See "Impairment of Goodwill and Purchased Intangibles" below for a further
discussion of our impairment review.

Impairment of Goodwill and Purchased Intangibles

During the quarter ended July 31, 2001, we identified indicators of possible impairment of goodwill and other acquired intangible assets
relating to previous acquisitions. These indicators included the deterioration in the business climate, recent changes in sales and cash flow
forecasts, revised strategic plans for certain of the acquired businesses and significant declines in the market values of companies in the general
technology industry. Accordingly, we compared the undiscounted cash flows associated with the acquired goodwill and purchased intangible
assets with the respective carrying amounts and determined that an impairment of certain of these assets existed. As a result, during the quarter
ended July 31, 2001, we recorded an aggregate charge of $225.4 million, of which $223.6 million related to the impairment of goodwill and
$1.8 million related to the impairment of purchased intangible assets. The
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impaired amount was measured as the amount by which the carrying amount exceeded the present value of the estimated future cash flows for
goodwill and purchased intangible assets, as follows:

Amount

Acquired Company Impaired
(In thousands)
Embedded Support Tools Corporation $ 167,482
AudeSi Technologies Inc. 27,893
IceSoft AS 15,255
Software Development Systems, Inc 14,788
$ 225,418
I

The impairment charge for those assets held for use was determined based upon the estimated discounted cash flows over the remaining
useful life of the goodwill using discount rates ranging from 17% to 23%. The assumptions supporting the cash flows, including the discount
rates, were determined using our best estimates as of the date of the impairment review. The impairment charge for those assets held for disposal
was determined based on the expected proceeds of disposition. As of July 31, 2002 and January 31, 2002, we had net book values in goodwill
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and purchased intangible assets of approximately $104.6 million and $108.4 million, respectively. Accumulated amortization for goodwill and
purchased intangibles was $188.5 million and $184.7 million, respectively, for the same periods. Amortization expense relating to completed
technology for the three months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001 was $1.7 million and $2.2 million, respectively, and for the six months ended
July 31, 2002 and 2001 was $3.4 million and $4.4 million, respectively. Other than goodwill, all identifiable intangible assets of approximately
$19.3 million in net book value as of July 31, 2002 will continue to be amortized in accordance with SFAS 142. Refer to Note 2 of Notes to
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for information on SFAS 142.

Restructuring and Other Nonrecurring Costs

Restructuring and other nonrecurring costs consists of costs associated with restructuring programs implemented by Wind River and costs
associated with the settlement of litigation and related remediation efforts.

Restructuring Costs. In May 2001, we announced initial cost control measures that included a reduction of our worldwide work force,
organizational restructuring and certain measures aimed at controlling operational expenses. In May 2002, we announced additional cost control
measures that included further reduction of our worldwide work force and measures focused on further reducing operational expenses. In both
the May 2001 and May 2002 restructuring programs, we made permanent and temporary adjustments to the business operations in order to
optimize operating efficiency.

As a result of the decisions to restructure our business, we recorded restructuring costs of $13.9 million and $28.6 million in the quarters
ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, in each case classified as operating expenses. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002, we recorded a
reversal of $6.9 million such that the net restructuring charge for fiscal year 2002 was $21.7 million.

25

As of January 31, 2002, the remaining restructuring liabilities related to the May 2001 restructuring program totaled $5.2 million. The
following table provides detailed restructuring liabilities at the end of the fiscal year 2002, total charges recorded in the three months ended
July 31, 2002, cash payments made during the six months ended July 31, 2002, non-cash write-off for the six months ended July 31, 2002 and
the aggregate remaining restructuring liabilities for both the May 2001 and the May 2002 restructuring programs as of July 31, 2002:

Non-Cash Non-Cash
Cash Charges Charges for ~ Total Charges Cash Payments Write-offs
Restructuring for the Three the Three for the Three for the Six for the Six Restructuring

Liabilities as of Months Ended Months Ended Months Ended Months Ended Months Ended Liabilities at
January 31,2002  July 31,2002  July 31,2002  July 31,2002  July 31,2002  July 31, 2002 July 31, 2002

(in thousands)

Work force reduction $ 4294 $ 10,429 $ $ 10,429 $ (11,843) $ $ 2,880

Consolidation of excess

facilities 949 1,607 355 1,962 (445) (347) 2,119

Other 356 1,190 1,546 (81) (1,198) 267
Total $ 5243 $ 12,392 $ 1,545 $ 13,937 $ (12,369) $ (1,545) $ 5,266

The following paragraphs provide detailed information relating to the restructuring costs that were recorded during the quarters ended
July 31, 2002 and 2001.

Worldwide Work Force Reduction. The May 2002 and 2001 restructuring programs resulted in the reduction of 219 and 425 employees,
respectively, across all business functions, operating units and geographic regions. The worldwide work force reductions implemented as part of
the May 2001 restructuring were substantially completed as of July 31, 2002. The May 2002 worldwide work force reduction started in the
quarter ended July 31, 2002, and will be substantially completed during the third quarter of fiscal 2003. In addition, the number of contractors
and temporary workers employed by us was reduced as a result of both restructuring programs.

We recorded a work force reduction charge of approximately $10.4 million and $20.1 million during the quarters ended July 31, 2002 and
2001, respectively, relating primarily to severance payments and the continuation of benefits. During the quarter ended July 31, 2001, equipment
disposed of or removed from operations as a result of the work force reduction resulted in a charge of $765,000 and consisted primarily of
computer equipment.
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Consolidation of Excess Facilities. 'We recorded a restructuring charge of $2.0 million and $8.4 million during the quarters ended July 31,
2002 and 2001, respectively, relating to the consolidation of certain excess facilities primarily in the United States, Japan and the United
Kingdom. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002, we recorded a reversal of $6.9 million against the $8.4 million charge after we determined that
certain of these excess facilities could continue to be used by Wind River personnel. The consolidation of excess facilities includes the closure of
certain leased corporate facilities and sales offices that related to business activities that were restructured. The estimated excess facility costs
represent the remaining lease payments and estimated costs less estimated proceeds from sub-leasing certain facilities. The estimated proceeds
from sub-leasing these facilities are based on current comparable rates for leases in the respective markets. If facilities operating lease rental
rates continue to decrease in these markets or it takes longer than expected to find a suitable tenant to sublease these facilities, the actual loss
could exceed this estimate. Cash and non-cash charges relate primarily to lease terminations, non-cancelable lease costs and impairment of
leasehold improvements related to the excess facilities. Amounts accrued related to the net lease expense due to the consolidation of excess
facilities consolidated as a result of the May 2002 and May 2001 restructuring programs will be paid through fiscal 2006 and 2005, respectively,
unless we successfully negotiate to exit the leases at an earlier date.
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Other Items. During the quarter ended July 31, 2002, we recorded a restructuring charge of $1.5 million relating to other items, primarily
consisting of the write-offs of capitalized software and inventory relating to products that management decided to discontinue during the quarter.

Litigation-related costs. During the quarter ended July 31, 2002, we recorded a charge of $3.7 million relating to the settlement of
litigation with a third party and related remediation efforts. See Part I, Item 1 "Legal Proceedings" for a discussion of those litigation matters.

Other Income (Expense)

Interest income was $3.1 million and $4.3 million for the three months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and $6.5 million and
$9.3 million for the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The decrease in interest income in both the three and six month
periods was primarily due to lower interest earned on our investments as a result of lower interest rates and higher amortization expense related
to our fixed-income securities. Cash and cash equivalents, investments and restricted cash totaled $313.7 million and $314.7 million as of
July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Interest expense was $1.8 million and $2.1 million for the three months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and $3.6 million and
$4.2 million for the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The decrease in interest expense in both the three and six-month
periods was due to a lower interest rate on our outstanding debt. The convertible notes outstanding during the three and six months ended
July 31, 2001 carried an interest rate of 5.0% while the convertible notes outstanding during the three and six months ended July 31, 2002
carried an interest rate of 3.75%. Wind River pays interest on its outstanding 3.75% convertible subordinated notes semi-annually and records
the amortization of certain issuance costs associated with these notes as interest expense.

Other expense, net, was $4.9 million and $682,000 for the three months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and $5.1 million and
$916,000 for the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The increase in other expense for the three and six month periods was
primarily due to higher investment write-downs and lower realized gains from our investment portfolios during the quarter. We wrote-down
certain public and private investments of approximately $4.3 million and $2.3 million during the three months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively, and $4.3 million and $3.3 million during the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Additionally, during the three
months ended July 31, 2001, we recognized a pre-tax gain of $293,000 relating to the repurchase of our subordinated convertible notes.

Provision For Income Taxes

Despite the occurrence of net losses in the three and six months ended July 31, 2002, we had a tax provision of $275,000 and $775,000, and
an effective tax rate of 0.7% and 1.4%, in the three and six months ended July 31, 2002, respectively, primarily due to tax liabilities arising from
certain foreign subsidiaries operations during such periods. For the three and six months ended July 31, 2001, we had a tax benefit of
$7.2 million and $6.0 million, respectively.

During fiscal 2002, we recorded a full valuation allowance against deferred tax assets based on management's determination that it is more
likely than not that our deferred tax assets at January 31, 2002 will not be realized. As of July 31, 2002, approximately $22.0 million of the gross
deferred tax asset related to certain U.S. operating loss carry-forwards resulting from the exercise of employee stock options. When recognized,
the tax benefit related to these assets will be accounted for as a credit to additional paid-in-capital rather than a reduction of the income tax
provision.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flows

As of July 31, 2002, we had working capital of approximately $41.7 million, and cash, cash equivalents and investments of approximately
$250.0 million, which includes $29.2 million of short-term investments and $173.1 million of investments with maturities of greater than one
year but excludes restricted cash of $63.7 million primarily associated with our synthetic leases and related interest rate swap agreements. We
invest primarily in highly liquid, investment-grade instruments. We have substantial debt service, principal repayment and lease payment
obligations, which could affect our liquidity, cash reserves and ability to obtain additional financing if we need to do so.

Operating activities primarily include the net loss for the periods under consideration, non-cash charges such as depreciation and
amortization expense and changes in assets and liabilities. In the six months ended July 31, 2002, our operating activities used net cash of
$22.0 million compared to net cash provided by operating activities of $16.8 million in the six months ended July 31, 2001. Net cash used in
operating activities for the six months ended July 31, 2002 consisted of cash used by operations of $32.3 million offset by an increase in cash of
$10.3 million arising from changes in assets and liabilities, primarily accounts receivable. Accounts receivable decreased by $15.6 million due
primarily to the lower sales volume in the six months ended July 31, 2002 and to an increased rate of collections. Net cash provided by operating
activities in the six months ended July 31, 2001 consisted of cash used in operations of $12.6 million offset by an increase in cash of
$29.4 million arising from changes in assets and liabilities, primarily accounts receivable. Cash from operations includes net loss of
$55.0 million and $306.4 million offset primarily by depreciation and amortization of $15.3 million and $64.9 million in the six months ended
July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and a non-cash impairment charge of $225.4 million relating to the write-down of goodwill and purchased
intangibles in the six months ended July 31, 2001. Our operating cash flows depend heavily on the level of our sales, which in turn depend, to a
large extent on general economic conditions affecting us and our customers, as well as the timing of new product introductions and other
competitive factors and our ability to control expenses successfully.

Our investing activities used net cash of $62.3 million and $69.8 million in the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Investing activities generally relate to the purchase of investments, business acquisitions and equipment purchases, partially offset by cash
provided from the sale and maturity of investments. Purchases of investments totaled $163.4 million and $194.6 million in the six months ended
July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Additionally, purchases of capital equipment totaled $4.2 million and $12.1 million, in the six months
ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Furthermore, during the six months ended July 31, 2001, we used $37.8 million for acquisition
related activities, and made additional restricted cash deposits (relating to our synthetic leases and interest rate swap agreements) of $1.1 million.
Cash provided by the sale of investments was $83.6 million and $115.0 million in the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively,
and cash provided by maturities of investments was $22.7 million and $61.5 million in the three months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.

In the six months ended July 31, 2002, our financing activities used net cash of $509,000 compared to net cash provided of $917,000 in the
six months ended July 31, 2001. During the six months ended July 31, 2002, the primary source of cash from financing activities was
$6.3 million received from the issuance of common stock from employee stock option exercises, offset by $3.9 million used for the repurchase
of common stock and $2.9 million in repayment of a line of credit at our Japanese subsidiary. During the six months ended July 31, 2001, we
received cash of $10.9 million from the issuance of common stock from stock option exercises and cash of $1.2 million from increase in a line
of credit at our Japanese subsidiary, which was offset by cash used of $11.2 million for the repurchase of our convertible subordinated notes.
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Convertible Subordinated Notes

In December 2001, we issued $150.0 million of 3.75% convertible subordinated notes due December 2006. The notes are unsecured,
subordinated to all existing and future senior debt and convertible into shares of our common stock at an initial conversion price of $24.115 per
share. The notes mature on December 15, 2006, unless earlier redeemed or converted. Interest is payable in cash semi-annually in arrears on
June 15 and December 15 of each year, commencing June 15, 2002. At the option of the holder, the notes may be converted into our common
stock at any time at the then-current conversion price. We may redeem all or a portion of the notes for cash at a redemption price of 100.75% of
the principal amount between December 15, 2004 and December 14, 2005, and 100.0% of the principal amount beginning December 15, 2005
and thereafter. Additionally, under specified circumstances we may redeem the notes prior to 2004.
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The indenture under which the notes were issued provides that an event of default will occur if (i) we fail to pay principal or premium on
the notes, (ii) we fail to pay interest on the notes and fail to cure such non-payment within 30 days, (iii) we fail to perform any other covenant
required of us in the indenture and the failure is not cured or waived within 60 days, or (iv) we or one of our significant subsidiaries fails to pay,
at final maturity or upon acceleration, any indebtedness for money borrowed in an outstanding principal amount in excess of $35.0 million,
including lease commitments, and the indebtedness is not discharged, or the default is not cured, waived or rescinded within 60 days after
written notice is provided in accordance with the terms of the indenture. If any of these events of default occurs, either the trustee or the holders
of at least 25% of the outstanding notes may declare the principal amount of the notes to be due and payable. In addition, an event of
bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization (involving us or any of our significant subsidiaries) will constitute an event of default under the
indenture and, in that case, the principal amount of the notes will automatically become due and payable.

Commitments

In fiscal 1998 and fiscal 2000, we entered into two operating leases for our headquarters facility constructed on land owned by us in
Alameda, California. After consideration of various financing alternatives for the construction of our headquarters buildings on land owned by
us, the related economic impact of each alternative and the ability to retain control of the property, we chose a form of financing that we believe
offered beneficial economic terms, commonly referred to as a "synthetic lease." These leases are treated as operating leases for accounting
purposes and financing leases for tax purposes. A synthetic lease is a form of off-balance sheet financing under which an unrelated third party
funds 100% of the costs for the acquisition and/or construction of the property and leases the asset back to the company, as lessee. None of our
officers or employees has any financial interest in these synthetic lease arrangements.

The lessor has funded a total of $32.4 million of construction costs related to the first operating lease and $25.0 million of construction
costs related to the second operating lease. The operating lease payments vary based upon the total construction costs of the buildings, which
include capitalized interest at the LIBOR. In connection with the leases, we leased the land to the lessor of the buildings at a nominal rate and for
a term of 55 years. If we were to terminate the ground lease prior to maturity, we would become obligated to purchase the buildings for 100% of
the amount financed. The operating leases provide us with the option, at the end of their terms, to either acquire the buildings at the lessor's
original cost or arrange for the buildings to be acquired. Both leases have initial terms of seven years but may be renewed under certain
circumstances. Unless renewed, the first lease will terminate in September 2004, and the second lease will terminate in November 2006. As of
July 31, 2002, we had not made a decision with respect to the option we will pursue at the end of the lease terms, and we may seek to amend or
terminate these lease arrangements prior to the end of the lease
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term. However, it is likely that we will decide to continue to occupy the buildings, and may therefore purchase the buildings or arrange for their
purchase and lease back.

Under the terms of the operating leases, we must maintain compliance with financial covenants relating to a minimum consolidated fixed
charge ratio, minimum EBITDA, a minimum tangible net worth and minimum net unencumbered cash. As of July 31, 2002, we were in
compliance with all applicable covenants. There can be no assurance that we will continue to be in compliance with these covenants, particularly
if our revenues continue to be negatively impacted by the economy or other factors or if we are not able to control our costs adequately. Further,
in the event we were not in compliance with the covenants, there can be no assurance that we would be able to obtain a waiver or amendment of
the covenants, and, if we could not, we may become obligated to purchase the buildings, as discussed below, and could incur additional costs
associated with replacing the synthetic leases. In the event of a default, our obligation to purchase the leased properties for 100% of the amount
financed by the lessor could be accelerated.

If the leases were terminated as a result of either an event of default or our exercise of our purchase option, and we became obligated to pay
the purchase price of the buildings, we would reflect the purchase price as an asset on our balance sheet, and our restricted cash and investments
position would be reduced by the amount of the purchase price. Currently, we reflect rent payments as an expense on our statement of
operations. In the event we purchased the buildings (as a result of an event of default or our election to do so), our rent expense for the buildings
would cease and we would subsequently record depreciation expense for the buildings over their estimated useful lives. Although no assurance
can be given, management believes that an event of default or termination of the leases resulting in our purchase of the buildings would not have
a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows, provided the fair value of the buildings was greater than
the purchase price. However, if at the time the leases were terminated the fair value of the buildings was less than the purchase price, we would
be required to record a one-time charge for the difference between the purchase price and the fair value of the buildings which, depending on the
magnitude of the charge, could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows. Additionally, if
during the life of the leases, we were to make a determination that the fair value of the buildings was less than the purchase price, we would be
required to amortize the difference between the fair value and the purchase price on a straight line basis over the remaining lives of the leases.
Depending on the magnitude of these differences, these additional charges could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results
of operations, and cash flows.
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We have guaranteed the residual value associated with the buildings under these operating leases to the lessor of a fixed amount of
approximately 82% and 85%, respectively, of the lessor's actual funding of the two leases. If we do not purchase the buildings upon maturity of
the operating leases, we may be obligated to pay the amount of the residual value guarantee to the lessor. We have deposited fixed income
securities with a custodian to ensure the performance of our obligations under the operating leases; at each of July 31, 2002 and January 31,
2002, we held $60.3 million in cash and cash equivalents as restricted cash in satisfaction of this requirement. In addition, we hold $3.4 million
of restricted cash associated with related interest rate swaps. The amounts held as restricted cash as of July 31, 2002 is sufficient to satisfy
performance of our obligations under the operating leases. The majority of restricted cash represents the cost incurred for construction of the
buildings.

In March 1998, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement to mitigate the impact of changes in interest rates on our first floating rate
operating lease. The interest rate swap agreement effectively changes our interest rate exposure on the operating lease, which is based on the one
month LIBOR, to a fixed rate of 5.9%. As of July 31, 2002, the notional amount of the interest rate swap was $28.5 million. In January 2001, we
entered into another interest rate swap agreement to reduce the impact of changes in interest rates on our second floating rate operating lease.
This second interest rate swap agreement effectively changes our interest rate exposure on our second operating lease,
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which is based on the one month LIBOR, to a fixed rate of 5.6%. As of July 31, 2002, the notional amount of the interest rate swap was

$27.9 million. The differential to be paid or received under both interest rate swap agreements will be recognized as an adjustment to rent
expense related to the respective operating leases. The interest rate swap agreements mature at the same time that their respective operating
leases expire. The amounts potentially subject to credit risk (arising from the possible inability of the counterparties to meet the terms of their
contracts) are generally limited to the amounts, if any, by which the counterparties’ obligations exceed our obligations. As of July 31, 2002, the
estimated fair value of these interest rate swap liabilities was $4.1 million, which is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income and
other long-term liabilities.

As of July 31, 2002, our future financial commitments are as set forth in the table below:

Year Ended January 31,
Six Months
Ending
January 31,
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 Thereafter Total

Synthetic lease payments $ 576 $ 1,152 $ 937 $ 508 $ 424 $ $ 3,597
Interest rate swap payments, net 1,117 2,058 1,632 905 753 6,465
Synthetic lease payments, net 1,693 3,210 2,569 1,413 1,177 10,062
3.75% subordinated convertible debt 2,813 5,625 5,625 5,625 155,625 175,313
Japanese subsidiary line of credit 12,148 12,148
Other operating leases 5,351 7,403 5,718 3,337 1,755 10,797 34,361
Total $ 22,005 $ 16,238 $ 13912 $ 10,375 $ 158,557 $ 10,797 $ 231,884

The synthetic lease payments, net, set forth in the table above are computed based on current interest rates, which are subject to certain
market-based interest rates, and are stated net of interest rate swap payments. The $150.0 million 3.75% convertible subordinated notes mature
in December 2006, but may be redeemed by us starting in 2004 or earlier if certain conditions are met. See " Convertible Subordinated Notes"
above. As of August 30, 2002, we repaid the entire Japanese subsidiary line of credit. We had no material planned capital commitments as of
July 31, 2002.

Our capital requirements depend on numerous factors including selling and marketing expenses, product development and engineering
expenses and general and administrative expenses and working capital to support business growth. We anticipate that our operating and capital
expenditures will constitute a material use of our cash resources. As a result, our net cash flows will depend heavily on (i) the level of our future
sales (which depend, to a large extent, on general economic conditions affecting us and our customers, as well as the timing of new product
introductions and other competitive factors) and (ii) our ability to implement our restructuring plans and to control expenses. Although it is
difficult for us to predict future liquidity requirements with certainty, we believe that our current cash and cash equivalents will satisfy our cash
requirements for working capital, product development and capital expenditures for at least the next twelve months and on a longer term basis.
During or after this period, if cash generated by operations is insufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements, we may need to sell additional
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equity or debt securities or obtain an additional credit facility. Our ability to obtain additional financing may be limited by the amount of
indebtedness we have outstanding and/or our recent performance and financial condition, particularly if our bond rating is lowered or
withdrawn, as well as general market conditions if the current economic downturn were to continue or become more serious. There can be no
assurance that additional financing will be available to us or, if available, that such financing will be available on favorable terms. If we were
unable to obtain financing, we might be required to reduce our expenses, including product development and engineering expenses, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 146, "Accounting for
Exit or Disposal Activities" ("SFAS 146"). SFAS 146 addresses significant issues regarding the recognition, measurement, and reporting of
costs that are associated with exit and disposal activities, including restructuring activities that are currently accounted for under Emerging
Issues Task Force No. 94-3, "Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including
Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)" ("EITF 94-3"). The scope of SFAS 146 also includes costs related to terminating a contract that is not
a capital lease and termination benefits that employees who are involuntarily terminated receive under the terms of a one-time benefit
arrangement that is not an ongoing benefit arrangement or an individual deferred-compensation contract. SFAS 146 will be effective for exit or
disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002 and early application is encouraged. The provisions of EITF No. 94-3 shall continue
to apply for an exit activity initiated under an exit plan that met the criteria of EITF No. 94-3 prior to the adoption of SFAS 146. The effect on
adoption of SFAS 146 will change on a prospective basis the timing of when restructuring charges are recorded from a commitment date
approach to when the liability is incurred. We are currently assessing the impact of SFAS 146 on our financial statements.

Factors That May Affect Future Results

Our business faces significant risks. The risks described below may not be the only risks we face. Additional risks that we do not yet know
of or that we currently think are immaterial may also impair our business operations. If any of the events or circumstances described in the
Jfollowing risks actually occur, our business, financial condition or results of operations could suffer, and the trading price of our common stock
could decline.

The economic downturn has adversely impacted and may continue to adversely impact our revenues and earnings. In addition,
uncertainties associated with the downturn increase the difficulty of financial planning and forecasting.

The United States is currently in the midst of a general economic downturn that commenced in 2001. The economic downturn has been
especially pronounced in the high technology sector generally and the telecommunications sector in particular. Beginning in the fiscal year
ended January 31, 2002 and continuing through the first half of fiscal 2003, we have experienced a decline in revenues and a loss of profitability,
which we believe is attributable, at least in part, to these downturns, as many of our customers experienced budgeting constraints, causing them
to defer or cancel projects. Our revenues were $63.6 million and $80.2 million for the three months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively,
and $129.9 million and $190.4 million for the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Net loss was $36.9 million, or $0.47 per
share, for the quarter ended July 31, 2002 compared to a net loss of $281.6 million, or $3.64 per share, for the quarter ended July 31, 2001. Net
loss was $55.0 million, or $0.70 per share, for the six months ended July 31, 2002 compared to a net loss of $306.4 million, or $3.98 per share,
for the six months ended July 31, 2001. Our total revenues decreased 20% to $351.1 million in fiscal 2002 compared to $438.0 million in fiscal
2001. We recorded a net loss of $375.6 million, or $4.84 per share, for fiscal 2002 compared with a net loss of $76.4 million, or $1.05 per share,
for fiscal 2001. Our decline in revenues during fiscal 2002 and the first half of fiscal 2003, as well as the continuing adverse economic
conditions, led us to implement restructuring programs in both May 2001 and May 2002 that included a headcount reduction and other
cost-control measures, and to record charges for restructuring and impairment of acquired goodwill and other intangible assets during fiscal year
2002.

We cannot predict how long or severe this downturn will be or whether any actions taken or proposed by the government will be effective
to bolster the economy. As a result of this uncertainty,
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forecasting and financial and strategic planning are more difficult than usual. If the downturn continues for an extended period or becomes more
severe, our business will continue to suffer and we may experience additional declines in sales, as well as continued losses, as our customers
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attempt to limit their spending. In addition, the adverse impact of the downturn on the capital markets could impair our ability to raise capital as
needed and impede our ability to expand our business.

Numerous factors may cause our total revenues and operating results to fluctuate significantly from period to period. These fluctuations
increase the difficulty of financial planning and forecasting and may result in decreases in our available cash and declines in the market
price of our stock.

A number of factors, many of which are outside our control, may cause or contribute to significant fluctuations in our total revenues and
operating results. These fluctuations make financial planning and forecasting more difficult. In addition, these fluctuations may result in
unanticipated decreases in our available cash, which could negatively impact our operations. As discussed more fully below, these fluctuations
also could increase the volatility of our stock price. Factors that may cause or contribute to fluctuations in our operating results and revenues
include:

the number and timing of orders we receive, including disproportionately higher receipt and shipment of orders in the last
month of the quarter;

changes in the length of our products' sales cycles, which increase as our customers' purchase decisions become more
strategic and are made at higher management levels;

the success of our customers' products from which we derive our royalty revenue;

the mix of our revenues as between sales of products and lower-margin sales of services;

our ability to control our operating expenses;

our ability to continue to develop, introduce and ship competitive new products and product enhancements quickly;

possible deferrals of orders by customers in anticipation of new product introductions;

announcements, product introductions and price reductions by our competitors;

our ability to manage costs for fixed-price consulting agreements;

seasonal product purchases by our customers, which historically have been higher in our fourth fiscal quarter;

changes in business cycles that affect the markets in which we sell our products;

economic conditions in the United States and international markets; and

foreign currency exchange rates.

One or more of the foregoing factors may cause our operating expenses to be disproportionately high or may cause our net revenue and
operating results to fluctuate significantly. Results from prior periods are thus not necessarily indicative of the results of future periods.

Our restructuring plans may not result in sufficient cost savings to enable us to achieve profitability in a difficult economic
environment.
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In response to market conditions and the decline in our revenues, in May 2001 and again in May 2002, we implemented restructuring plans
that were designed to align our resources more strategically and control our expenses. Our current restructuring plan is based on certain
assumptions regarding the cost structure of our business and the nature and severity of the current industry adjustment and general economic
trends. We cannot be certain that the assumptions underlying our
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current restructuring plan will prove to be accurate. If they are not, our current restructuring plan may not result in the correct alignment of our
resources or sufficient cost savings. Our restructuring plans involve the implementation of a number of initiatives to streamline our business and
focus our investments, including reducing headcount by a total of 425 employees during fiscal 2002 and an additional 219 employees during the
second quarter of fiscal 2003 across all business functions, implementing cost-control measures such as reducing executive compensation,
implementing a program of office closure days and reducing discretional spending on items such as consulting and travel. We recorded an
aggregate charge of $257.4 million for impairment of goodwill and intangible assets during fiscal 2002 and recorded restructuring charges of
$13.9 million and $28.6 million during the six months ended July 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. These measures may adversely affect our
ability to realize our current or future business objectives. In addition, the costs actually incurred in connection with restructuring actions may
exceed our estimated costs of these actions.

We may need to refine, expand or extend our current plan, which may involve additional restructuring actions, such as further headcount
reductions, assessing whether we should consider disposing of businesses or product lines and reviewing the recoverability of remaining tangible
and intangible assets. Any decision to further limit investment or to dispose of or otherwise exit additional businesses may result in the recording
of additional accrued liabilities for one-time or other charges, such as work force reduction costs, asset write-downs and contractual settlements.
Current and additional restructuring actions may result in further cash and/or non-cash charges, which could have a material adverse effect on
our business and results of operations. As a result, we cannot be sure that we will return to profitability as a result of our restructuring plan.

We have substantial commitments, which could make it difficult for us to obtain financing and deplete our cash reserves. Additionally,
these commitments could be accelerated in certain circumstances, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.

As of July 31, 2002, we had $150.0 million in outstanding indebtedness under our 3.75% notes and $57.4 million in long-term obligations
under the lease financings of our facilities in Alameda, California. As a result of these and other commitments as of July 31, 2002, our total
future commitments for the remainder of fiscal year ended January 31, 2003 will be $22.0 million and our commitments for the fiscal year ended
January 31, 2004 will be $16.2 million, assuming that none of our obligations is accelerated. As of July 31, 2002, we had cash and cash
equivalents of $47.8 million, short-term investments of $29.2 million and investments with maturities of greater than one year of $173.1 million.
The indenture under which our convertible subordinated notes were issued provides that an event of default occurs if we (or one of our
significant subsidiaries) fails to pay, at final maturity or upon acceleration, any indebtedness for money borrowed in an outstanding principal
amount in excess of $35.0 million, including lease commitments, and the indebtedness is not discharged, or the default is not cured, waived or
rescinded within 60 days after written notice is provided in accordance with the terms of the indenture.

Under the terms of our synthetic leases, we must maintain compliance with financial covenants relating to a minimum consolidated fixed
charge ratio, minimum EBITDA, a minimum tangible net worth and minimum net unencumbered cash. As of July 31, 2002, we were in
compliance with the applicable covenants. There can be no assurance that we will continue to be in compliance with these covenants,
particularly if our revenues continue to be negatively impacted by the economy or other factors. In addition, if we were not in compliance, we
cannot be sure that the lessor would agree to provide a waiver or amendment of the covenants. In the event we are not in compliance, and are not
able to obtain a waiver or amendment of the covenants, we could become obligated to purchase the buildings and could incur additional costs
associated with replacing the synthetic leases.
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If our synthetic leases were terminated for any reason and the fair value of the buildings was less than the purchase price, we would be
required to record a one-time charge for the difference between the purchase price and the fair value of the buildings which, depending on the
magnitude of the charge, could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows. Additionally, if
during the life of the leases, we were to make a determination that the fair value of the buildings was less than the purchase price, we would be
required to amortize the difference between the fair value and the purchase price on a straight line basis over the remaining lives of the leases.
Depending on the magnitude of these differences, these additional charges could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results
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of operations, and cash flows.

n

See " Liquidity and Capital Resources" above for a further discussion of our synthetic leases and other commitments.

We face intense competition in the embedded software industry, which could decrease demand for our products or cause us to reduce
our prices.

The embedded software industry is characterized by rapid change, new and complex technology and intense competition. Our ability to
maintain our current market share depends upon our ability to satisfy customer requirements, enhance existing products and develop and
introduce new products. We expect the intensity of competition to increase in the future. Increased competitiveness may result in reductions in
the prices of our products, run-time royalties and services, lower-than-expected gross margins or loss of market share, any of which would harm
our business.

Our primary competition comes from internal research and development departments of companies that develop embedded systems
in-house. In many cases, companies that develop operating systems in-house have already made significant investments of time and effort in
developing their own internal systems, making acceptance of our products as a replacement more difficult. Additionally, many of these in-house
departments may use open-source software, such as the Linux operating system, which is royalty-free. We also compete with independent
software vendors and, to a limited extent, with open-source vendors. Some of the companies that develop embedded systems in-house and some
of these independent software vendors, such as Microsoft Corporation, have significantly greater financial, technical, marketing, sales and other
resources and significantly greater name recognition than we do.

Demands for rapid change and the increasing complexity of the technology in our industry intensify the competition we face. In addition,
our competitors may consolidate or establish strategic alliances to expand product offerings and resources or address new market segments. As a
result, they may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements or to devote greater
resources to the development, promotion, sale and support of their products. These factors favor larger competitors that have the resources to
develop new technologies or to respond more quickly with new product offerings or product enhancements. We may be unable to meet the pace
of rapid development set by our competitors or may incur additional costs attempting to do so, which may cause declines in our operating
results. Our competitors may foresee the course of market developments more accurately than we do and could in the future develop new
technologies that compete with our products or even render our products obsolete, any of which could adversely affect our competitive position.
The accessibility of the open source code promotes rapid technological changes from contributors in the open-source community, and
open-source vendors may be able to respond more quickly to these changes.
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If we do not continue to address new and rapidly changing markets and increasingly complex technologies successfully and deliver our
products on a timely basis, our revenues and operating results will decline.

The market for embedded software is characterized by ongoing technological developments, evolving industry standards and rapid changes
in customer requirements and product offerings in the embedded market. Our success depends upon our ability to adapt and respond to these
changes in a timely and cost-effective manner. If we fail to continually update our existing products to keep them current with customer needs or
to develop new or enhanced products to take advantage of new technologies, emerging standards, and expanding customer requirements, our
existing products could become obsolete and our financial performance would suffer. We have from time to time experienced delays in the
commercial release of new technologies, new products and enhancements of existing products. These delays are commonplace in the software
industry due to the complexity and unpredictability of the development work required. We must effectively market and sell new product
offerings to key customers, because once a customer has designed a product with a particular operating system, that customer typically is
reluctant to change its supplier due to the significant related costs. If we cannot adapt or respond in a cost-effective and timely manner to new
technologies and new customer requirements, sales of our products could decline.

The costs of software development can be high, and we may not realize revenues from our development efforts for a substantial period
of time.

Introducing new products that rapidly address changing market demands requires a continued high level of investment in research and
development. Our product development and engineering expenses were $17.8 million, or 28% of total revenues, for the three months ended
July 31, 2002 compared to $21.7 million, or 27% of total revenues, for the three months ended July 31, 2001. Our product development and
engineering expenses were $38.4 million, or 30% of total revenues, for the six months ended July 31, 2002 compared to $47.0 million, or 25%
of total revenues, for the six months ended July 31, 2001. As we undertake the extensive capital outlays to address the changes in the embedded
market, we may be unable to realize revenue as soon as we may expect. These costs associated with software development are increasing,
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including the costs of recruiting and retaining engineering talent and acquiring or licensing new technologies. Our investment in new and
existing market opportunities prior to our ability to generate revenue from these new opportunities may adversely affect our operating results.

Integrating the companies we have acquired and costs associated with acquisitions and investments may disrupt our business and harm
our operating results.

We anticipate that, as part of our business strategy, we will continue to acquire or make investments in business, products and technologies
that complement ours. These investments and acquisitions can be expensive and difficult to manage and integrate. We have incurred significant
costs in connection with acquisition transactions in recent fiscal years and may incur significant costs in connection with future transactions,
whether or not they are consummated. For example, for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2001, we recorded a charge of $33.3 million for
acquisition-related costs, of which $25.2 million related to acquisition and integration costs associated with the acquisition of Integrated
Systems, Inc., including fees for investment banking, severance payments, office closure costs and legal, accounting and other project costs.
Acquisitions involve additional risks including:

difficulties in integrating the operations, technologies, and products of the acquired companies;

the risk of diverting management's attention from normal daily operations of the business;

potential difficulties in completing projects associated with in-process research and development;
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risks of operating in markets in which we have no or limited direct prior experience and where competitors in such markets
have stronger market positions;

disruption of customer relationships;

increased expenses associated with acquisitions, including costs for employee redeployment, relocation or

severance; conversion of information systems; combining research and development teams and processes;

reorganization or closures of facilities; and relocation or disposition of excess equipment;

potential delays in realizing anticipated revenues associated with the acquisition; and

the potential loss of key employees of the acquired companies.

Additionally, if revenues associated with acquired businesses do not meet our original expectations, acquisitions may result in charges
relating to impairment of acquired goodwill and purchased intangibles. During fiscal 2002, we identified indicators of possible impairment of
goodwill and other intangible assets relating to acquisitions made in earlier years. As a result of our impairment review, we recorded an
aggregate charge of $257.4 million for the impairment of goodwill and purchased intangibles relating to our acquisitions of Embedded Support
Tools Corporation, AudeSi Technologies, Inc., Rapid Logic, Inc., ICESoft AS and Software Development Systems, Inc.

We may not be successful in integrating the business, products, technologies and personnel we acquire. Similarly, we cannot guarantee that
our investments will yield a significant return, if any. If we cannot successfully manage the integration of our acquisitions or are unable to
realize the benefits of, or anticipated revenues from, our acquisitions, our business, financial condition and operating results could suffer.

Because a significant portion of our revenue is derived from royalties, we are dependent upon the ability of our customers to develop
and penetrate new markets successfully and to pay royalties.
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Our operating systems and middleware products are embedded in end-user products developed and marketed by our customers, and we
receive royalty fees for each copy of our operating system and middleware products embedded in those products. Therefore, our royalty
revenues depend both upon our ability to successfully negotiate royalty agreements with our customers and, in turn, upon our customers'
successful commercialization of their underlying products. In particular, we derive significant revenue from customers that develop products in
highly competitive and technologically complex areas such as Internet infrastructure, servers and storage, digital consumer, aerospace and
defense, industrial control and automotive. If these customers sell fewer products or otherwise face significant economic difficulties, our
revenues will decline. For example, in the six months ended July 31, 2002, our revenues from run-time royalties declined 15% as compared to
the six months ended July 31, 2001, which we believe is primarily due to our customers' response to the existing current market conditions in the
high-technology sector. We cannot control these customers' product development or commercialization or predict their success. In addition, we
depend on our customers to accurately report the use of their products in order for us to collect our run-time royalties. If our customers are not
successful with their products or do not accurately report use of their products, our royalty revenues may decline significantly. Additionally,
because Linux is royalty-free, we may be forced to reduce the prices of our run-time royalties, which may cause our revenues and profit margins
to decline.

Our significant international business activities subject us to increased costs and economic risks.

We develop and sell a substantial percentage of our products internationally. For the three months ended July 31, 2002, revenues from
international sales were $28.5 million, or 45% of total revenue, as
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compared to $31.8 million, or 40% of total revenue, for three months ended July 31, 2001. For the six months ended July 31, 2002, revenues
from international sales were $54.6 million, or 42% of total revenue, as compared to $72.1 million, or 38% of total revenue, for six months
ended July 31, 2001. Additionally, we have investments in, or have made acquisitions of, companies located outside the United States. We also
expect to continue to make investments to further support and expand our international operations and increase our direct sales force in Europe
and Asia. Risks inherent in international operations include:

the imposition of governmental controls and regulatory requirements;

the costs and risks of localizing products for foreign countries;

differences in business cultures and sales cycles;

differences in operation and sales support expenses;

unexpected changes in tariffs, import and export restrictions and other barriers and restrictions;

greater difficulty in accounts receivable collection;

the restrictions on repatriation of earnings;

exposure to adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates;

the burdens of complying with a variety of foreign laws;

difficulties in staffing and managing foreign subsidiaries and branch operations;
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difficulties in integrating products and operations from foreign acquisitions;

exposure to local economic slowdowns; and

the need to guarantee credit instruments extended to support foreign operations, in particular in Japan.

Any of these events, regionally and as a whole, could reduce our international sales and increase our costs of doing business internationally
and have a material adverse effect on our gross margins and net operating results. For example, revenues from international sales decreased by
24% in the six months ended July 31, 2002 compared to the six months ended July 31, 2001. The overall decrease was due to a 30% decline in
revenues from Japan, a 26% decrease in revenues from Europe and a 12% decline in revenues from Asia Pacific. The declines in Japan, Europe
and Asia Pacific were primarily the result of local economic slowdowns, which caused lower demand for our products and services.

Failure of our current and planned information systems, controls and infrastructure to adequately manage and support our anticipated
growth and global operations could disrupt our business.

We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience in the long term, both through acquisitions and internal expansion, significant
growth in our headcount and in the scope, complexity and geographic reach of our operations. To support this expansion, we must standardize,
integrate and improve our management controls, reporting systems and procedures and information technology infrastructure. To implement
those improvements, we must purchase, develop and maintain complex and expensive information management systems. Our current and
planned systems, procedures and controls may not be adequate to support our future operations. Failure of these systems to meet our needs and
an inability to efficiently integrate and expand support worldwide could disrupt our operations. Our ability to manage this growth is complicated
by the need to implement headcount reductions and cost-control measures in the short term in response to general economic conditions and
declining revenues. See "Our restructuring plans may not result in sufficient cost savings to enable us to achieve profitability in a difficult
economic environment" above.
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Our common stock price is subject to volatility.

In recent years, the stock markets in general and the shares of technology companies in particular have experienced extreme price
fluctuations. These recent price fluctuations have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of the companies
affected. Our stock price has similarly experienced significant volatility; as reported on the Nasdaq National Market, during fiscal 2002 our
stock had a high sales price of $37.75 and a low sales price of $9.70 and, during the six months ended July 31, 2002, our stock had a high sales
price of $18.35 and a low sales price of $4.18. The last sale price of our common stock as reported on the Nasdaq National Market on
September 10, 2002 was $5.43. In recent fiscal quarters, we have experienced shortfalls in revenue and earnings from levels expected by
securities analysts and investors, which have had an immediate and significant adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock. These
factors relating to the fluctuations in our revenues and operating results will continue to affect our stock price. Comments by or changes in
estimates from securities analysts as well as significant developments involving our competitors or our industry could also affect our stock price.
In addition, the market price of our common stock is affected by the stock performance of other technology companies generally, as well as
companies in our industry and our customers in particular. Other broad market and industry factors may negatively affect our operating results or
cause our stock price to decline, as may general political or economic conditions in the United States and globally, such as recessions, or interest
rate or currency fluctuations.

The rights we rely upon to protect the intellectual property underlying our products may not be adequate, which could enable third
parties to use our technology and reduce our ability to compete.

Our success depends significantly upon the proprietary technology contained in our products. We currently rely on a combination of
patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secret laws, and contractual provisions to establish and protect our intellectual property rights in our
technology and products. We cannot be certain that the steps we take to protect our intellectual property will adequately protect our rights, that
others will not independently develop or otherwise acquire equivalent or superior technology, or that we can maintain our technology as trade
secrets. In addition, discovery and investigation of unauthorized use of our intellectual property is difficult. We expect software piracy, which is
difficult to detect, to be a persistent problem, particularly in those foreign countries where the laws may not protect our intellectual property as
fully as in the United States. Employees, consultants, and others who participate in the development of our products may breach their
agreements with us regarding our intellectual property. We might not have adequate remedies for infringement or breach of our proprietary
rights by third parties, employees or consultants. Further, we have in the past initiated, and in the future may initiate, claims or litigation against
third parties for infringement or breach of our proprietary rights or to establish the validity of our proprietary rights. Whether or not such
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litigation is determined in our favor, such actions could result in significant expense to us, divert the efforts of our technical and management
personnel from productive tasks or cause product shipment delays.

Patent, trademark or copyright infringement or product liability claims against us may result in costly litigation, cause product
shipment delays or require us to expend significant resources. In addition, patent or copyright claims may require us to enter into
royalty or licensing arrangements.

We occasionally receive communications from third parties alleging patent, trademark or copyright infringement or other intellectual
property claims, and there is always the chance that third parties may assert infringement claims against us or against our customers under
circumstances that might require us to provide indemnification. Additionally, because our products are increasingly used in applications, such as
network infrastructure, transportation, medical and mission-critical business systems, in which the failure of the embedded system could cause
property damage, personal injury or economic loss, we may face product liability claims.
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Although our agreements with our customers typically contain provisions intended to limit our exposure to infringement and liability
claims, these provisions may not be effective in doing so in all circumstances or in all jurisdictions. Any of these types of claims, with or without
merit, could result in claims for indemnification by us or costly litigation, could require us to expend significant resources to develop
non-infringing technology or remedy product defects, cause product shipment delays or require us to pay significant damages if the claims are
successful. In the case of infringement of another party's intellectual property, we may be required to enter into royalty or licensing agreements;
however, we cannot be certain that the necessary licenses will be available or that they can be obtained on commercially reasonable terms. If we
are not successful in defending these claims or, with respect to infringement claims, were to fail to obtain royalty or licensing agreements in a
timely manner and on reasonable terms, our business, financial condition and results of operations would be materially adversely affected.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Interest Rate Sensitivity
Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relate primarily to our investment portfolio and debt obligations.

We place our investments with high quality credit issuers and, by policy, limit the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer. As stated in
our policy, our first priority is to reduce the risk of principal loss. Consequently, we seek to preserve our invested funds by limiting default risk,
market risk and reinvestment risk. We mitigate default risk by investing in only high quality credit securities that we believe to be low risk and
by positioning our portfolio to respond appropriately to a significant reduction in a credit rating of any investment issuer or guarantor. The
portfolio includes only marketable securities with active secondary or resale markets to ensure portfolio liquidity.

We believe an immediate 100 basis point move in interest rates affecting our floating and fixed rate financial instruments as of July 31,
2002 would have an immaterial effect on our pretax earnings. We also believe an immediate 100 basis point move in interest rates would have
an immaterial effect on the fair value of our fixed income securities.

In March 1998, we entered into a 5.9% interest rate swap to mitigate the impact of changes in interest rates on our floating interest rate
operating lease for our new headquarters. As of July 31, 2002, the notional amount of the interest rate swap was $28.5 million. In January 2001,
we entered into a 5.6% interest rate swap to mitigate the impact of interest rate changes on our second floating interest rate operating lease for
the additional construction of our headquarters facility. The notional amount of this interest rate swap was $27.9 million as of July 31, 2002. The
estimated fair value of the interest rate swap liabilities was $4.1 million at July 31, 2002 and $2.6 million at January 31, 2002. The interest rate
swap agreements mature at the same time that the respective operating leases expire.

Foreign Currency Risk

We enter into foreign currency forward exchange contracts to manage foreign currency exposures related to certain foreign currency
denominated inter-company balances. Additionally, we may adjust our foreign currency hedging position by taking out additional contracts or
by terminating or offsetting existing forward contracts. These adjustments may result from changes in the underlying foreign currency exposures
or from fundamental shifts in the economics of particular exchange rates. Gains and losses on terminated forward contracts, or on contracts that
are offset, are recognized in income in the period of contract termination or offset. Our ultimate realized gain or loss with respect to currency
fluctuations will depend on the currency exchange rates and other factors in effect as the contracts mature. As of July 31, 2002, we had
outstanding forward contracts with notional amounts of $7.6 million and no outstanding forward contracts as of January 31, 2002.

36



Edgar Filing: WIND RIVER SYSTEMS INC - Form 10-Q

40

Equity Price Risk

We own 338,652 shares of common stock of e-Sim that was purchased prior to e-Sim's public offering in July 1998 at $6.35 per share. On
July 31, 2002, the closing price of e-Sim's stock was $0.14 per share. We own 90,909 shares of common stock of Tvia, Inc. that was purchased
at $11.00 per share prior to Tvia's public offering in August 2000. On July 31, 2002, the closing price of Tvia's stock was $0.61 per share. We
own 400,000 shares of common stock of Insignia Solutions, Ltd. purchased in February 2001 at a cost of $5.00 per share. On July 31, 2002, the
closing price of Insignia was $0.90 per share.

We value our publicly held investments using the closing price of the stock at the end of each month. As a result, we reflect these
investments on our balance sheet as of July 31, 2002, as long-term investments, at their aggregate market value of approximately $463,000.
During the three months ended July 31, 2002, we recorded an impairment charge on these publicly held investments of $259,000, which
represented the amount of other-than-temporary decline as of the date of impairment.

We also have certain other minority investments in private companies. These investments are inherently risky because the markets for the
technologies or products they have under development are typically in the early stages and might never develop. During the quarter ended
July 31, 2002, we wrote-down $4.0 million of these investments. As a result of this write-down, we have no remaining investment book value on
our balance sheet relating to private companies. These investments had previously been included as a component of other long-term assets on
our balance sheet and were carried at cost.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Not applicable.
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PART II OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In February 2001, we entered into a license and distribution agreement with The MathWorks, Inc. ("TMW"), to ensure customer support
and product transition as we prepared to discontinue our MATRIXx® product family. Under the agreement, in exchange for cash payments
totaling $12.0 million, we granted to TMW the exclusive distribution rights to MATRIXx for a period of two and a half years, as well as an
option to purchase the MATRIXXx intellectual property and assets at the end of the licensing term for an additional payment. On June 21, 2002,
the Department of Justice filed suit against Wind River and TMW in the United States District Court For the Eastern District of Virginia alleging
that the agreements between Wind River and TMW constituted per se illegal market allocation and price-fixing agreement, in violation of
Section 1 of the Sherman Act, as amended. Also on June 21, 2002, Wind River and The Department of Justice entered into a consent decree
settling the lawsuit against Wind River. Pursuant to the consent decree, in the event the Department obtains a final judgment against TMW
requiring a divestiture of the MATRIXx software, Wind River will cooperate fully to effect the divestiture. Thus, while Wind River is named as
a defendant, it remains a party to the lawsuit for the sole purpose of effectuating any final judgment against TMW. Additionally, the consent
decree requires Wind River to cooperate with any discovery in the case.

On December 3, 2001, we filed an action for declaratory relief in the Superior Court of California, County of Alameda, against Mentat, Inc.
concerning the 1999 Distribution Agreement for Computer Software Package (the "Agreement") entered into between Wind River and Mentat.
Under the Agreement, we agreed to license and distribute software designed by Mentat known as WindNet Streams 1.0, which provides an
interface for certain networking protocols and terminal subsystems, helpful but not commonly used in embedded applications. In July 2002,
Mentat and Wind River entered into a confidential settlement agreement regarding the claim filed by us and the counterclaim filed by Mentat.
The action for declaratory relief and the related counterclaim were dismissed on September 5, 2002.
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ITEM 2. CHANGES IN SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Not applicable.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

Not applicable.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
At the Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on July 10, 2002, the following matters were submitted to a vote of the security holders:

(1) To elect the following to serve as directors of Wind River:

Name Votes For Votes Withheld
James W. Bagley 65,634,180 1,082,691
John C. Bolger 65,810,257 906,614
William B. Elmore 66,026,156 690,714
Jerry L. Fiddler 66,198,587 518,284
Narendra K. Gupta 65,945,385 771,486
Grant M. Inman 65,868,256 848,615
Thomas St. Dennis 65,915,393 801,478
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(2) To amend the 1993 Employee Stock Purchase Plan to increase the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance
thereunder:

Votes For Votes Against Votes Abstaining

62,819,021 3,631,131 266,719

(3) To ratify the selection of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Wind River's independent auditors for the fiscal year ending
January 31, 2003:

Votes For Votes Against Votes Abstaining

64,905,454 1,754,259 54,968
ITEMS. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
(a) Exhibits
The following exhibits are filed herewith:

Exhibit No. Description
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Exhibit No. Description

99.1  Certification by Wind River's President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

99.2  Certification by Wind River's Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
(b) Report on Form 8-K

Wind River filed a report on Form 8-K on May 1, 2002 relating to the announcement that financial results for the quarter ended April 30,
2002 would fall short of previously announced guidance. On June 7, 2002, Wind River amended such Form 8-K by filing a Form 8-K/A
disclosing certain additional information about Wind River's financial results for the quarter ended April 30, 2002.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: September 13, 2002 WIND RIVER SYSTEMS, INC.

By: /s/ MICHAEL W. ZELLNER

Michael W. Zellner

Vice President, Finance, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
(Principal Financial and Accounting Olfficer)
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CERTIFICATIONS*

I, Thomas St. Dennis, President and Chief Executive Officer of Wind River Systems, Inc. ("Wind River"), certify that:

1.
I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q (the "Report") of Wind River;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this Report; and

3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of Wind River as of, and for, the periods
presented in this Report.

Date: September 13, 2002 /s/ THOMAS ST. DENNIS
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Thomas St. Dennis

President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

I, Michael Zellner, Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer of Wind River Systems, Inc. ("Wind River"), certify that:

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q (the "Report") of Wind River;

Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this Report; and

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of Wind River as of, and for, the periods
presented in this Report.

Date: September 13, 2002 /s/ MICHAEL ZELLNER

Michael Zellner

Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)

Representations 4, 5 and 6 of the Certifications as set forth in Form 10-Q have been omitted, consistent with the Transition Provisions
of SEC Exchange Act Release No. 34-46427, because this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q covers a period ended before the Effective
Date of Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14.
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QuickLinks

INDEX

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WIND RIVER SYSTEMS. INC. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (In thousands. except per share
amounts) (Unaudited)

WIND RIVER SYSTEMS. INC. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (In thousands. except par value) (Unaudited)

WIND RIVER SYSTEMS. INC. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (In thousands) (Unaudited)
WIND RIVER SYSTEMS. INC. NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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